Peroxiredoxin 6 Peroxidase and Ca²⁺-Independent Phospholipase A₂ Activities Are Essential For Male Mouse Fertility

Edrian Gabrielle Bumanlag

Supervisor: Dr. Cristian O'Flaherty



Department of Experimental Surgery McGill University, Montreal December 2021

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Masters of Science

© Edrian Gabrielle Bumanlag 2021

Table of Contents

Li	st of Figures	5	5
Li	st of Abbreviation	IS	7
Ał	ostract	1	1
Ré	ésumé	1	3
Ac	knowledgements.		5
1	Introduction		6
	1.1 From sper spermatoz	matogenesis to fertilization: the	6
	1.1.1	Spermatogenesis	6
	1.1.2	Structural components of spermatozoa	6
	1.1.3	Sperm epididymal maturation	8
	1.1.4	Sperm ejaculation	9
	1.1.5	Sperm capacitation, acrosome reaction	0
	1.2 Male ferti	lity	1
	1.2.1	Oxidative stress in male fertility	1
	1.2.2	Negative effects of ROS within spermatozoa 2	2
	1.2.3	Positive effects of ROS within spermatozoa	4
	1.3 Antioxida	nt system of human spermatozoa2	6
	1.3.1	ROS scavengers within spermatozoa 2	6
	1.3.2	Vulnerability of spermatozoa to oxidative stress	6
	1.3.3	Characterization of Peroxiredoxins (PRDXs) 2	7
	1.3.4	PRDX6: primary protector of spermatozoa against oxidative stress 3	1
2	Research Ration	ale3	4
	2.1 Involveme	ent of PRDX6 in sperm motility	4
	2.2 Involvement of PRDX6 in sperm capacitation		
	2.3 Involvement of PRDX6 in mice's reproductive outcomes		
	2.4 Involvement of PRDX6 in sperm epididymal maturation		
	2.5 Involvement of PRDX6 in prevention of sperm DNA oxidation		

3	Hypothesis and Objective
4	Materials and Methods
	4.1 Materials
	4.2 Animals
	4.3 Thermoresistance test to assess sperm motility
	4.4 Assessment of sperm capacitation
	4.5 Assessment of sperm epididymal maturation40
	4.6 Quantification of reproductive outcomes40
	4.7 SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting to determine40
	4HNE and nitrotyrosine levels in spermatozoa
	4.8 Immunocytochemistry to determine 4HNE41
	and nitrotyrosine levels in spermatozoa
	4.9 Immunocytochemistry to determine DNA
	oxidation levels in spermatozoa
	4.10 Statistical analysis
5	Results 44
U	5.1 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA ₂ 44
	and oxidative stress on male mice fertility
	5.2 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA ₂
	on sperm epididymal maturation
	5.3 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA ₂
	on lipid peroxidation levels in spermatozoa
	5.4 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA ₂
	on tyrosine nitration levels in spermatozoa
	5.5 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA ₂
	on sperm DNA oxidation
	5.6 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA ₂
	on sperm motility
	5.7 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA ₂
	on sperm capacitation

6	Discussion	59
7	Conclusion	68
8	Future Directions	69
9	References	70
10	Appendix	92

List of Figures

Figure 1: Structural morphology of human spermatozoa
Figure 2: Schematic representation of the mechanisms
Figure 3: Schematic representation of the reactivation
Figure 4: Schematic representation of the reactivation
Figure 5: Schematic representation of PRDX6 structure
Figure 6: Schematic depicting the involvement of PRDX6 in
Table 1: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA2 absence leads to impaired
Figure 7: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA ₂ absence leads to decreased
Figure 8: Removal of sperm cytoplasm is impaired in C47S
Figure 9: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA ₂ absence leads to
Figure 10A: Representative pictures depicting the intensity of 4HNE
Figure 10B: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA ₂ absence leads to
Figure 11: 4HNE labeling is observed throughout the entire structure
Figure 12: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA ₂ absence leads to increased
Figure 13A: Representative pictures depicting the intensity of nitrotyrosine

Figure 13B: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA ₂ absence leads to increased	,
Figure 14: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA ₂ absence leads to increased	5
Figure 15: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA ₂ absence leads to decreased	7
Figure 16: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA ₂ absence leads to impaired	3
Table 2: PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA ₂ are involved in the regulation	7

List of Abbreviations

AKAP4	A-Kinase Anchoring Protein 4
ALS	Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis
ANOVA	Analysis Of Variance
Arg-X-X-(Ser/Thr)	Arginine-X-X-(Serine/Threonine)
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
ATP1A4	Na ⁺ /K ⁺ Transporting ATPase Subunit Alpha-4
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
BWW	Biggers, Whitter and Whittingham
C47	Cysteine 47
C47S mice	PRDX6 Peroxidase-Deficient Knock-In Strain
C57B16/J mice	Wild-type Mice
Ca ²⁺	Calcium Ion
CaCl ₂	Calcium Chloride
cAMP	Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate
CAP	Capacitated
CASA	Computer-Assisted Sperm Analysis
CDR	Cytoplasmic Droplet Retention
cKIT	Tyrosine-Protein Kinase KIT
CoA	Coenzyme A
Cu/Zn SOD	Copper/Zinc Superoxide Dismutase
Cys	Cysteine
D140	Aspartate 140
D140A mice	iPLA2-Deficient Knock-In Strain
Da-NONOate	Diethylamine NONOate
DAPI	4',6-Diamidino-2-Phenylindole
ddH ₂ 0	Double Distilled Water
DICER1	Endoribonuclease DICER
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DTT	Dithiothreitol

ECL	Enhanced Chemiluminescence
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid
ERK	Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase
ERp57	Protein Disulfide-Isomerase A3
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
GPX	Glutathione Peroxidase
GPX1	Glutathione Peroxidase 1 (same for GPX2/3/4/5/6/7/8/9)
G6PDH	Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
GSH	Glutathione
GSTpi	Glutathione S-Transferase Pi
H26	Histidine 26
H ₂ O ₂	Hydrogen Peroxide
HBS	HEPES-Buffered Saline
HCl	Hydrochloric Acid
HCO ₃ -	Bicarbonate
HEPES	4-(2-Hydroxyethyl)-1-Piperazineethanesulfonic Acid
iPLA ₂	Ca ²⁺ -Independent Phospholipase A ₂
IZUMO1	Izumo Sperm-Egg Fusion 1
KCl	Potassium Chloride
KH2PO4	Potassium Dihydrogen Phosphate
LDH-C4	Lactate Dehydrogenase-C4
LPCAT	Lysophosphatidylcholine Acyltransferase
ME	Malic Enzyme
MEK	Mitogen Activated Kinase
mGPX4	Mitochondrial Glutathione Peroxidase 4
MgSO ₄	Magnesium Sulfate
MJ33	1-Hexadecyl-3-(Trifluoroethyl)-sn-Glycero-2-
	Phosphomethanol Lithium
MnSOD	Manganese Superoxide Dismutase
MMP9	Matrix Metallopeptidase 9
Na ₂ HPO ₄	Disodium Phosphate

NaCl	Sodium Chloride
NADH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide + Hydrogen
NADPH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate
NADP-ICDH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate-Dependent
	Isocitrate Dehydrogenase
NAHCO3	Sodium Bicarbonate
NC	Non-Capacitated
nGPX4	Nuclear Glutathione Peroxidase 4
NO'	Nitric Oxide
NOS	Nitric Oxide Synthase
O2	Superoxide Anion
ONOO ⁻	Peroxynitrite
PBS	Phosphate-Buffered Saline
PBS-T	Phosphate Buffered Saline + 0.1% Triton
рН	Potential Hydrogen
РКА	Protein Kinase A
РКС	Protein Kinase C
PLC	Phospholipase C
PP	Protein Phosphatases
PRDX	Peroxiredoxin
PRDX1	Peroxiredoxin 1 (same for PRDX2/3/4/5/6)
$Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice	PRDX6-Knockout Mice
PSA	Prostate Specific Antigen
РТК	Protein Tyrosine Kinase
РТР	Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases
PUFA	Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid
RAF	Rapidly Accelerated Fibrosarcoma
RFI	Relative Fluorescence Intensity
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
ROOH	Lipid Hydroperoxide
\$32	Serine 32

sAC	Soluble Adenylyl Cyclase
SEM	Standard Error Of The Mean
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate Polyacrylamide
	Gel Electrophoresis
SNPs	Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms
SOD	Superoxide Dismutase
SOD1	Superoxide Dismutase 1 (same for SOD2/3)
SRX	Sulfiredoxin
tBHP	Tert-butyl Hydroperoxide
TRX/TRD	Thioredoxin/Thioredoxin Reductase
TTBS 1X	2 mM Tris (pH 7.8)-buffered saline and 0.1% Tween 20
VDAC2	Voltage-Dependent Anion-Selective Channel Protein 2
Zn^{2+}	Zinc Ion
1-Cys	1 Cysteine Residue Within Active Site
2-Cys	2 Cysteine Residues Within Active Site
4HNE	4-Hydroxynonenal
8-OHdG	8-Hydroxy-2'-Deoxyguanosine
%AR	Percentages of Acrosome Reaction

Abstract

Currently, one in six couples suffers from infertility, and half of the cases are caused by male infertility. Oxidative stress due to high reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels and/or low levels of antioxidant enzymes promotes infertility by inducing lipid peroxidation, DNA damage, impaired sperm motility and capacitation, and disrupted mitochondrial activity. 4-hydroxynonenal (4HNE), a lipid peroxidation product, increases levels of superoxide anion and nitric oxide responsible for tyrosine nitration of proteins, thus impairing sperm motility and capacitation. Peroxiredoxin 6 (PRDX6) protects spermatozoa from oxidative stress through its peroxidase and Ca²⁺-independent phospholipase A₂ (iPLA₂) activities that scavenge ROS and repair oxidized membranes, respectively. Spermatozoa from infertile patients have low PRDX6 levels that are associated with impaired motility, high lipid peroxidation levels and DNA damage. These abnormal parameters were also observed in spermatozoa of $Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice, resulting in smaller litter sizes compared to wild-type mice, and were worsened when males were treated with tertbutyl hydroperoxide (tBHP), an in vivo oxidative stress inducer. We hypothesize that PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ absence leads to infertility observed in $Prdx6^{-/-}$ male mice. Spermatozoa from two-month-old male mice of the C57Bl6/J (wild-type), Prdx6^{-/-}, C47S and D140A (peroxidase- and iPLA₂-deficient) mouse strains were incubated in PBS to assess motility. Percentages of acrosome-reaction of non- and capacitated spermatozoa (BWW medium + BSA/bicarbonate) were quantified using Giemsa staining. The number of unsuccessful matings, litter sizes and percentages of spermatozoa with cytoplasmic droplet retention (CDR) were recorded for mice treated with saline (control) and with 60 µM tBHP/100 g body weight (treated) daily for 9 days. Whole sperm 4HNE and nitrotyrosine levels were quantified using Western blot. 4HNE and nitrotyrosine levels of non-permeabilized spermatozoa and sperm DNA oxidation levels were quantified using immunocytochemistry. Mutant spermatozoa had impaired capacitation and motility. Percentages of spermatozoa with CDR, whole sperm 4HNE and nitrotyrosine levels, number of unsuccessful matings and litter sizes of control and treated mutant mice were higher compared to that of their wild-type counterparts. All mutant groups, except for control D140A mice, had higher nitrotyrosine levels within their non-permeabilized spermatozoa and percentages of spermatozoa with positive DNA oxidation labelling compared to control wild-type mice. Control mutants had higher 4HNE levels within their non-permeabilized

spermatozoa compared to control wild-type mice. In conclusion, the peroxidase and iPLA₂ activities of PRDX6 are essential to ensure male mouse fertility.

During the preparation of this thesis, I contributed to the experimental design, performed all experiments and data analysis.

Résumé

Actuellement, un couple sur six souffre d'infertilité et la moitié des cas sont dus à l'infertilité masculine. Le stress oxydatif dû à des niveaux élevés d'espèces réactives de l'oxygène (ROS) et/ou à de faibles niveaux d'enzymes antioxydantes favorise l'infertilité en induisant une peroxydation lipidique, des dommages à l'ADN, une altération de la motilité et de la capacitation des spermatozoïdes et une perturbation de l'activité mitochondriale. Le 4-hydroxynonénal (4HNE), un produit de peroxydation lipidique, augmente les niveaux d'anion superoxyde et d'oxyde nitrique responsables de la nitration de la tyrosine des protéines, altérant ainsi la motilité et la capacitation des spermatozoïdes. La Peroxiredoxine 6 (PRDX6) protège les spermatozoïdes du stress oxydatif grâce à ses activités de peroxydase et de phospholipase A₂ indépendante du Ca²⁺ (iPLA₂) qui enlèvent les ROS et réparent les membranes oxydées respectivement. Les spermatozoïdes de patients infertiles ont de faibles niveaux de PRDX6 qui sont associés à une motilité altérée, des niveaux élevés de peroxydation lipidique et des dommages à l'ADN. Ces paramètres anormaux ont également été observés dans les spermatozoïdes de souris Prdx6^{-/-}, entraînant des tailles de portée plus faibles par rapport aux souris de type sauvage, et ont été aggravés lorsque les mâles ont été traités avec de l'hydroperoxyde de tert-butyle (tBHP), un inducteur de stress oxydatif en vivo. Nous émettons l'hypothèse que l'absence de PRDX6 peroxydase ou d'iPLA₂ conduit à l'infertilité observée chez les souris $Prdx6^{-/-}$. Des spermatozoïdes provenant de souris (âgées de deux mois) C57Bl6/J (type sauvage), Prdx6^{-/-}, C47S et D140A (peroxydase et iPLA2-déficientes) ont été incubés dans du PBS pour évaluer la motilité. Les pourcentages de spermatozoïdes non capacités et capacités (traités avec milieu BWW + BSA/bicarbonate) ayant subi la réaction acrosomique ont été quantifiés par coloration au Giemsa. Le nombre d'accouplements infructueux, la taille des portées et les pourcentages de spermatozoïdes avec rétention de gouttelettes cytoplasmiques (CDR) ont été enregistrés pour les souris traitées avec une solution saline (contrôles) et avec 60 µM de tBHP/100 g de poids corporel (traitées) quotidiennement pendant 9 jours. Les niveaux de 4HNE et de nitrotyrosine dans le spermatozoïde entier ont été quantifiés par Western blot. Les niveaux de 4HNE et de nitrotyrosine de spermatozoïdes non perméabilisés, ainsi que les niveaux d'oxydation de l'ADN des spermatozoïdes ont été quantifiés par immunocytochimie. Les spermatozoïdes mutants avaient une capacitation et une motilité altérées. Les pourcentages de spermatozoïdes avec CDR, les niveaux de 4HNE et de nitrotyrosine dans le spermatozoïde entier, le nombre

d'accouplements infructueux et la taille des portées de souris mutantes contrôles et traitées étaient plus élevés que ceux de souris de type sauvage ayant subi le même traitement. Toutes les souris mutantes, à l'exception de souris D140A contrôles, avaient des niveaux plus élevés de nitrotyrosine dans leurs spermatozoïdes non perméabilisés ainsi que de pourcentages de spermatozoïdes ayant de niveaux d'oxydation de l'ADN élevés par rapport aux souris contrôles de type sauvage. Les mutants contrôles avaient des niveaux de 4HNE plus élevés dans leurs spermatozoïdes non perméabilisés par rapport aux souris contrôles de type sauvage. En conclusion, la peroxydase et l'iPLA₂ de la PRDX6 sont essentielles pour assurer la fertilité de souris mâles.

Lors de la préparation de cette thèse, j'ai contribué à la conception expérimentale, effectué toutes les expériences et analysé les données résultantes.

Acknowledgements

The completion of my MSc. Experimental Surgery degree is a privilege and a milestone that I will forever be grateful for. Throughout my time at the laboratory, support and guidance from numerous people helped me in achieving this goal.

Firstly, I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my research supervisor, Dr. Cristian O'Flaherty. Thank you so much for welcoming me as a member of your laboratory, for your unconditional support and kindness, and for your insightful comments and suggestions about life and research. I wish you all the best in your future endeavours.

Secondly, I would like to thank Dr. Connie (Tita) San Gabriel for your kindness and willingness to help with the troubleshooting of my experiments. Your suggestions and comments were very helpful towards the progress of my project. To Ms. Marie France Lusignan, thank you so much for helping me get accustomed to using the microscope, for your kindness and patience.

Thirdly, I would like to thank my Research Committee members, Dr. Alice Dragomir, Dr. Carlos Morales and Dr. Simon Wing, for providing comments and insights that were instrumental in enhancing my knowledge about my research. Thank you for listening to my presentation and for being there despite your busy schedules.

Fourthly, to Caleb, my best friend at the lab, thank you for treating me like your own brother. Our market trips, conversations about our favourite shows and the pen you gave me will always be remembered. To Steven, John and Diego, I want to wish you good luck with everything.

Lastly, to my parents and baby brother, who gave me strength, support, and motivation to finish my MSc. degree in 1.5 years, thank you for everything. I will make sure that this degree will help me in providing for you three.

1. Introduction

1.1 From spermatogenesis to fertilization: the spermatozoon's journey

1.1.1 Spermatogenesis

Spermatogenesis commences at puberty and is defined as the formation of spermatozoa from spermatogonia (germ cells) within the testis (Roosen-Runge et al., 1977). This process is divided into three steps, namely spermatocytogenesis, spermiogenesis, and spermiation (Valli et al., 2015). During spermatocytogenesis, spermatogonia proliferate through mitosis (Holstein et al., 2003), then differentiate into diplotene spermatocytes (Rowley & Heller, 1971; Feng et al., 2014). Both processes are regulated by spermatogonial cKIT receptor and cKIT ligand provided by Sertoli cells (Sandlow et al., 1996; Blume-Jensen et al., 2000). Maturation of diplotene spermatocytes into secondary spermatocytes requires meiosis I, a process that involves DNA replication and interaction between homologous chromosomes (Holstein et al., 2003; Feng et al., 2014). Thereafter, each secondary spermatocyte matures into 4 haploid spermatids through meiosis II (Feng et al., 2014; Matsumoto & Bremner, 2016). Energy required for the maturation of spermatocytes is provided by lactate, which is produced by Sertoli cells (Dias et al., 2014). Spermiogenesis involves the differentiation of haploid spermatids into spermatozoa and is initiated and regulated by the release of testosterone by Leydig cells (Clermont, 1963; Scialli, 1997). Spermiation involves the release of immotile testicular spermatozoa from Sertoli cells towards the efferent ducts that lead to the epididymis (Russell & Griswold, 1993). Additionally, during spermatogenesis, chromatin compaction occurs through the replacement of histones with protamines (Goldberg et al., 1977).

1.1.2 Structural components of spermatozoa

Spermatozoa is a compartmentalized cell that has a head and flagellum (Figure 1). The head of spermatozoa is composed of a nucleus that contains condensed chromatin, an acrosome that contains hydrolytic enzymes that facilitate sperm penetration through zona pellucida to promote fertilization of the oocyte, minimal amount of cytoplasm, and cytoskeletal structures involved in capacitation, notably actin (Yanagimachi, 1994; Jeon et al., 2001; Fukami et al., 2003; Breitbart et al., 2005; Eddy, 2006). Moreover, the head of spermatozoa also has an equatorial segment, which contains proteins involved in the fusion of the sperm plasma membrane with the oolema

(Yanagimachi, 1994). The post-acrosomal region of the sperm head also includes proteins involved in spermatozoa-oocyte fusion and is the primary site of the influx of calcium ions (Ca²⁺) required for the induction of acrosome reaction, which is the release of hydrolytic enzymes that permit zona pellucida penetration (Kawai et al., 1989; Jeon et al., 2001; Fukami et al., 2003). The flagellum of spermatozoa is divided into the midpiece, principal piece and end piece (Figure 1) (Eddy, 2006). Within the midpiece, the mitochondrial sheath forms a helical structure that surrounds the 9 outer dense fibres and axoneme (Figure 1). It contains mitochondria that is responsible for the generation of energy through Kreb's cycle and oxidative phosphorylation in some species such as human and equine (Fernie et al., 2004; Eddy, 2006; Piomboni et al., 2012; Amaral et al., 2013; Darr et al., 2016; Davila et al., 2016). The principal piece is composed of an axoneme, outer dense fibres and fibrous sheath, while the end piece only consists of an axoneme (Figure 1). In the principal piece, the enzymes required for glycolysis are associated to the fibrous sheath (Eddy, 2006). Delimiting the entire spermatozoa structure is a plasma membrane composed of polyunsaturated fatty acids that causes the spermatozoa to be sensitive to lipid peroxidation (Jones et al., 1979; Alvarez & Aitken, 2012).



Figure 1: Structural morphology of human spermatozoa

Spermatozoa is composed of a head and flagellum. Acrosome, equatorial segment and postacrosomal region are localized within the sperm head. The flagellum has a mitochondrial sheath, principal piece and end piece. The transverse view of the principal piece depicts an axoneme surrounded by 9 outer dense fibres, which are surrounded by a fibrous sheath. The figure was taken from de Lamirande & O'Flaherty (2008).

1.1.3 Sperm epididymal maturation

Sperm epididymal maturation involves the transit of spermatozoa along the epididymis, a tubule connecting the testis to vas deferens, and is required for the spermatozoon to acquire motility and the ability to fertilize oocytes (Sommer et al., 1996; Robaire et al., 2006). The most abundant cells of the epididymal epithelium are principal cells, which are important for the endocytosis of proteins from the epididymal fluid and the release of epididymosomes, which are vesicles that are derived from the epididymal epithelium and are important for sperm maturation as they supply enzymes involved in sperm motility, antioxidant protection, cell adhesion and oocyte recognition (Abe et al., 1983; Hermo et al., 1988; Saez et al., 2003; Robaire et al., 2006; Sullivan et al., 2007; Sullivan, 2008; Thimon et al., 2008; Cornwall, 2009; Sullivan, 2015; Liu &

O'Flaherty, 2017). Clear cells within the epididymal epithelium are also essential for sperm maturation since they are responsible for the removal of sperm cytoplasmic droplets through endocytosis (Hermo et al., 1988; Sullivan & Belleannée, 2018). This event allows the sperm cytoplasm, which contains both superoxide dismutase (SOD), an antioxidant enzyme that converts superoxide anion (O2⁻) into H₂O₂ (Griveau et al., 1995; Kehrer, 2000), and glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH), an enzyme that provides NADPH required for ROS formation, to be removed during epididymal transit to prevent excessive ROS production in maturing spermatozoa (Aitken et al., 1994; Aitken et al., 1996). During sperm epididymal transit, glycocalyx, which is a thick layer of carbohydrates that surround sperm membrane and is important for sperm maturation, acquisition of motility and fertilizing competence (Schröter et al., 1999; Tollner et al., 2011; Tollner et al., 2012), is formed through the modification of glycans by glycosidases and glycosyl transferases provided by epididymal epithelial cells (Bernal et al., 1980; Tulsiani, 2006). Additionally, epididymis has DICER1, which is an enzyme that can modify various RNAs, notably microRNAs and non-coding RNAs (Li & Liu, 2011). Removal of DICER1 in mice leads to impaired synthesis of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) and increased release of cholesterol into the epididymal lumen, therefore causing spermatozoa to be unable to achieve fertilizing competence due to inadequate sperm membrane lipid composition (Björkgren et al., 2012). Additionally, during sperm epididymal transit, disulfide bridges between thiol groups of protamines' cysteine (Cys) residues are formed to render chromatin more compact and to prevent the paternal genome from direct oxidation by reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) (Shalgi et al., 1989; Seligman & Shalgi, 1991; Kino & Sugiyama, 2000).

1.1.4 Sperm ejaculation

Upon ejaculation, mature spermatozoa enter in contact with fluids secreted by both seminal vesicles and the prostate (Robert & Gagnon, 1999; de Lamirande, 2007). Seminal plasma is rich in zinc ions (Zn^{2+}) and semenogelin, which is the protein needed to form the coagulum (Robert & Gagnon, 1999; Jonsson et al., 2005; de Lamirande, 2007). Zn²⁺ is required for DNA compaction and for the inhibition of prostate-specific antigen (PSA), a protease required for semenogelin removal to dissolve the coagulum (Robert & Gagnon, 1999; Jonsson et al., 2005; de Lamirande, 2007). Sperm capacitation is an event required for spermatozoa to achieve fertilizing

competence (Yanagimachi, 1994; de Lamirande & Gagnon, 1995; O'Flaherty et al., 2003; Florman & Ducibella, 2006; de Lamirande & O'Flaherty, 2012). Both Zn^{2+} and semenogelin inhibit sperm oxidase, an enzyme responsible for producing ROS required for capacitation, preventing premature capacitation (de Lamirande, 2007; de Lamirande & Lamothe, 2010). However, when spermatozoa reach the oviduct, Zn^{2+} and semenogelin are removed to permit sperm oxidase activation and the subsequent ROS production to initiate capacitation (O'Flaherty et al., 2004; O'Flaherty, de Lamirande, et al., 2006b).

1.1.5 Sperm capacitation, acrosome reaction

During sperm capacitation, which occurs within the female reproductive tract, specifically in the oviduct, and is a complex process characterized by changes in the physiological and biochemical properties of the spermatozoa required to successfully fertilize the oocyte, membrane fluidity increases due to cholesterol efflux, which enhances the permeability of sperm membrane to Ca²⁺ and bicarbonate (HCO₃) required to activate soluble adenylyl cyclase (sAC) (Austin & Bishop, 1958; Yanagimachi, 1994; Visconti et al., 1999; Flesch & Gadella, 2000; Gadella & Van Gestel, 2004; de Lamirande & O'Flaherty, 2012). sAC stimulates the production of cAMP necessary to activate protein kinase A (PKA), which phosphorylates substrates (O'Flaherty et al., 2004) involved in the phosphorylation of mitogen-activated kinase-like (MEK-like) proteins (O'Flaherty et al., 2005) and in the activation of tyrosine kinases (Leclerc et al., 1996). Phosphorylated MEK-like proteins and PKA promote activation of protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs), which phosphorylate protein tyrosine residues during capacitation (Visconti et al., 1995; Leclerc et al., 1996; O'Flaherty, de Lamirande, et al., 2006a). Capacitation also involves increased permeability of Ca²⁺ channels, enhanced intracellular pH, and hyperpolarization of the sperm plasma membrane (Zeng et al., 1995; Arnoult et al., 1999; Chávez et al., 2012; Orta et al., 2018). Energy and phosphate groups utilized for protein phosphorylation are provided by ATP produced through glycolysis and lactate dehydrogenase C4 (LDH-C4), an enzyme that converts NADH and lactate into pyruvate, which through glycolysis, is converted into acetyl-CoA that enters the Krebs cycle to generate reducing equivalents required for the production of ATP through mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (O'Flaherty et al., 2002; O'Flaherty, Beorlegui, et al., 2006; O'Flaherty, de Lamirande, et al., 2006a). Sperm capacitation also involves actin polymerization, a process that is required for the trafficking of phospholipase C (PLC) towards

the sperm membrane (Breitbart et al., 2005). PLC promotes Ca^{2+} influx to provide hyperactivated sperm motility and to promote acrosome reaction (Yanagimachi, 1994; Jeon et al., 2001; Fukami et al., 2003; Eddy, 2006).

1.2 Male infertility

1.2.1 Oxidative stress in male infertility

Currently, 1/6 of couples, which account for approximately 60-80 million couples, suffer from infertility worldwide (Comhaire & World Health Organization, 1987; Bushnik et al., 2012). Moreover, half of the infertility cases are caused by male infertility (Comhaire & World Health Organization, 1987; Bushnik et al., 2012). Treatment of male infertility is difficult because 60-75% of male infertility cases are unexplained (idiopathic infertility) (Wein A et al., 2012). Additionally, infertility can be caused and amplified by various medical conditions/factors, including varicocele, pyospermia, excessive exposure to pollutants, smoke, radiation, and drugs (Anderson & Williamson, 1988; Shy et al., 1988; Brennemann et al., 1997; Hasegawa et al., 1997; Smith et al., 2006; Harris et al., 2011; Said et al., 2012). Interestingly, these pathologies/factors contribute to oxidative stress caused by high levels of ROS and/or low levels of antioxidant enzymes (Anderson & Williamson, 1988; Brennemann et al., 1997; Hasegawa et al., 1997; Turner, 2001; Halliwell, 2006; Smith et al., 2006; Halliwell & Gutteridge, 2007; Agarwal et al., 2008; Said et al., 2012; Agarwal et al., 2014). Indeed, at least 30% of infertile men have high levels of seminal ROS (Iwasaki & Gagnon, 1992; Zini et al., 1993; Tremellen, 2008).

Varicocele is the widening of pampiniform venous plexus and is associated with elevated ROS production and impaired antioxidant activity within seminal plasma (Hendin et al., 1999; Alsaikhan et al., 2016). Pyospermia is a medical condition characterized by the presence of a high number of leukocytes (>1x10⁶ leukocytes/mL) in the semen (Brunner et al., 2019). Pyospermia is associated with oxidative stress in semen since leukocytes are sources of ROS (Agarwal et al., 2014), and pyospermia patients have low SOD levels (Fridovich, 1997; Pasqualotto et al., 2008; Miriyala et al., 2011). Consequentially, spermatozoa from patients with pyospermia suffer from structural abnormalities, notably tail defects (Aziz et al., 2004; World Health, 2010). Additionally, patients who do not have pyospermia still have elevated ROS levels

within their semen, suggesting that spermatozoa from these patients are also vulnerable to oxidative stress (Agarwal et al., 2014).

Male infertility is driven, in part, by the capacity of oxidative stress to promote lipid peroxidation (Jones et al., 1979; Alvarez & Aitken, 2012), DNA damage in the form of DNA fragmentation and oxidation (Aitken et al., 1998; Barroso et al., 2000), decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential (Gallon et al., 2006; Koppers et al., 2008) and inhibition of enzymes involved in sperm motility (de Lamirande & Gagnon, 1992a, 1992b). For instance, compared to non-smokers, smokers have a higher concentration of leukocytes within their semen, which results in higher ROS levels associated with increased DNA oxidation and decreased protamination (Trummer et al., 2002; Hammadeh et al., 2010; Yamauchi et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2013). Human spermatozoa lack enzymes involved in base excision repair, notably apurinic endonuclease 1, and the majority of damage within the paternal genome remains after oocyte fertilization; therefore, the presence of efficient antioxidant machinery is important to ensure male fertility (Yamauchi et al., 2012; Smith et al., 2013). Another factor that could promote oxidative stress is the presence of immature spermatozoa that produce high ROS levels, which can endanger healthy spermatozoa within the semen (Gil-Guzman et al., 2001; Ollero et al., 2001). Furthermore, aging is also associated with oxidative stress since spermatozoa from aging male rats have higher ROS levels and lower levels of antioxidant enzymes compared to younger counterparts (Weir & Robaire, 2007).

1.2.2 Negative effects of ROS within the spermatozoa

Spermatozoa are highly susceptible to oxidative stress due to the presence of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) within their plasma membrane (Jones et al., 1979; Alvarez & Aitken, 2012). Lipid peroxidation involves the oxidation of PUFAs through a series of reactions between radicals, resulting in the production of lipid hydroperoxides (ROOH) (Yin et al., 2011; Saxena, 2014). Due to their instability, ROOH are degraded to form injurious products, notably aldehydes, ketones, carboxylic acids and 4-hydroxynonenal (4HNE), that lead to cellular toxicity (Benedetti et al., 1980; Saxena, 2014).

In the mitochondria, the process of oxidative phosphorylation, which is required to produce energy in the form of ATP, produces O_2^{-} (Hatefi, 1985; Du et al., 1998), which can dismutate into H₂O₂ spontaneously or through the activity of SOD2, which is the SOD isoform localized within mitochondria (Griveau et al., 1995; Kehrer, 2000; Prasad et al., 2018). O₂⁻⁻ also reacts with nitric oxide (NO[•]) to form ONOO⁻ (Griveau et al., 1995; Packer et al., 1996; Herrero et al., 2001). These ROS promote lipid peroxidation, and the 4HNE produced forms adducts with several proteins, including succinate dehydrogenase, a mitochondrial enzyme involved in the electron transport chain, to generate O_2^{--} and restart the vicious cycle of ROS generation and lipid peroxidation (Aitken et al., 2012).

H₂O₂ and tertbutyl hydroperoxide (tBHP), an *in vivo* oxidative stress inducer, promote sglutathionylation characterized as the reversible incorporation of glutathione into thiol groups to impair protein activity (Humphries et al., 2002; Morielli & O'Flaherty, 2015; Lee et al., 2017). NO[•] and ONOO⁻ promote tyrosine nitration, which induces irreversible inactivation of proteins (Gow et al., 1996; O'Flaherty & Matsushita-Fournier, 2017). ROS impair sperm motility by inducing s-glutathionylation and tyrosine nitration of tubulin, a structural protein found within sperm flagellum, and enzymes involved in energy generation, namely enzymes involved in glycolysis and Kreb's cycle (Fratelli et al., 2004; Landino et al., 2004; Morielli & O'Flaherty, 2015). Indeed, sperm motility is impaired in human spermatozoa treated with H₂O₂ or Da-NONOate (NO[•] donor) at concentrations that do not impair sperm viability (Morielli & O'Flaherty, 2015).

Previous studies have shown that high ROS levels can inhibit PKA and protein kinase C (PKC) (Ward et al., 2000; Humphries et al., 2002). Indeed, during human sperm capacitation, phosphorylation of PKA substrates was prevented by oxidative stress generated by inhibition of peroxiredoxins (PRDXs) (Lee et al., 2017), which are antioxidant enzymes present within all of the sperm's subcellular compartments (O'Flaherty & Rico de Souza, 2010). H₂O₂- and Da-NONOate-treated human spermatozoa have lower levels of PKA- and PKC-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation compared to untreated spermatozoa, confirming that ROS promote impairment of sperm capacitation (Morielli & O'Flaherty, 2015). 4HNE also has the capacity to inhibit both PKC and phosphorylation-induced activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in

rat hepatocytes (Pronzato et al., 1990; Chiarpotto et al., 1999; Sampey et al., 2007). Impairment of sperm capacitation could also be due to the prevention of actin polymerization since actin can be oxidized by lipid peroxides within the brain and can undergo s-glutathionylation (Dalle-Donne et al., 2005; Bizzozero et al., 2007).

ROS also promote lipid peroxidation of epididymal epithelium since tBHP-treated rats have higher 4HNE levels within their cauda epididymis at 3 and 6 weeks post-treatment (Wu et al., 2020). ROS can also directly oxidize DNA bases, with guanosine being the most affected to form 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG), while 4HNE forms adducts with DNA promoting mutations in the paternal genome (Kino & Sugiyama, 2000; Zhong & Yin, 2015). ROS are also involved in preventing compaction of chromatin as evidenced by the low protamination levels observed in smokers, which then result in impaired protection of the paternal genome from ROS-induced DNA damage (Trummer et al., 2002; Hammadeh et al., 2010; Yamauchi et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2013). Currently, it is unknown whether ROS prevent the production of protamines or impair the replacement of histones with protamines during spermatogenesis however, DNA oxidation and fragmentation levels are negatively correlated with protamination levels (Ozkosem et al., 2016). Also, smaller litter sizes are associated with impaired compaction of chromatin and increased levels of DNA fragmentation and oxidation in mouse spermatozoa (Ozkosem et al., 2016).

1.2.3 Positive effects of ROS within spermatozoa

Despite their injurious effects on many events required for maintaining fertility, ROS, at low levels, are important for cell signalling events such as sperm capacitation (O'Flaherty, de Lamirande, et al., 2006b; de Lamirande & O'Flaherty, 2012). During the early stage of capacitation, H₂O₂ and O₂⁻⁻ produced by sperm oxidase (de Lamirande et al., 1997; O'Flaherty et al., 2003) and NO[•] produced by nitric oxide synthase (NOS) (Herrero et al., 1997; Herrero et al., 1999; Belén Herrero et al., 2000) activate sAC to stimulate PKA activity (Figure 2) (Tan et al., 1995; Persad et al., 1997). H₂O₂ activates PKC pathway (O'Flaherty, de Lamirande, et al., 2006b), while O₂⁻⁻ and NO[•] stimulate ERK pathway during sperm capacitation (Figure 2) (de Lamirande & Gagnon, 2002; Thundathil et al., 2003). Phosphorylated PKA substrates (O'Flaherty, de Lamirande, et al., 2006b) and rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma (RAF) activated

by both PKC and ERK pathways phosphorylate MEK-like proteins to ultimately induce phosphorylation of protein tyrosine residues by PTKs during late capacitation (Figure 2) (Gopalakrishna & Anderson, 1989; O'Flaherty, de Lamirande, et al., 2006b). To maintain phosphorylation status of proteins, O_2 ⁻⁻ and NO⁻ inhibit protein phosphatases (PP), while H₂O₂ and NO⁻ inhibit protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTP) (Figure 2) (Hecht & Zick, 1992; Sommer et al., 2002; Chiarugi & Cirri, 2003; Salmeen & Barford, 2005). Additionally, H₂O₂ produced through sperm oxidase activation is utilized by glutathione peroxidases (GPXs) as hydrogen receivers to promote chromatin compaction during epididymal maturation of spermatozoa (Aitken & Vernet, 1998).



Figure 2: Schematic representation of the mechanisms involved in sperm capacitation

ROS promote sAC activation to induce activation of PKA required to phosphorylated PKA substrates within their Arg-X-X-(Ser/Thr) motifs. ROS, namely H₂O₂ and NO[•], regulate capacitation by stimulating PKC and ERK pathways respectively to promote RAF activation. Phosphorylated PKA substrates and RAF phosphorylate MEK-like proteins, which activate PTKs that phosphorylate protein tyrosine residues during late capacitation. ROS regulates capacitation since O_2^- and NO[•] inhibit PP, while H₂O₂ and NO[•] inhibit PTP. The figure was taken from O'Flaherty, de Lamirande et al., (2006a).

1.3 Antioxidant system of human spermatozoa

1.3.1 ROS scavengers within spermatozoa

Antioxidant enzymes present within spermatozoa include SOD, which consists of 3 isoforms: copper/zinc SOD (Cu/Zn SOD; SOD1) localized within cytosol, manganese SOD (MnSOD; SOD2) localized within the mitochondria and SOD3 (secretory isoform) (Prasad et al., 2018). As previously mentioned, SODs convert O₂⁻⁻ into H₂O₂ (Griveau et al., 1995; Kehrer, 2000). SOD1 and SOD3 are responsible for 75% and 25% of enzymatic activity within the seminal plasma, respectively (Peeker et al., 1997). In somatic cells, the H₂O₂ produced by SOD activity can then be scavenged by catalase present in peroxisomes (Chance et al., 1979; Schrader & Fahimi, 2004; Balaban et al., 2005; Kehrer et al., 2010; Ighodaro & Akinloye, 2018). However, spermatozoa lack catalase since the peroxisomes are eliminated from spermatids during spermatogenesis (Luers et al., 2006; Nenicu et al., 2007). Another group of antioxidant enzymes present in somatic cells are glutathione peroxidases (GPXs), a group of selenium-dependent (GPX1, GPX2, GPX3, and GPX4) or selenium-independent (GPX5, GPX6, GPX7, GPX8, and GPX9) enzymes that can scavenge H₂O₂ and ONOO⁻ (Ursini et al., 1985; Takahashi et al., 1987; Ghyselinck et al., 1989; Chu et al., 1993; Sies et al., 1997; Herbette et al., 2007). Mitochondrial GPX4 (mGPX4) reacts with lipid hydroperoxides to form the mitochondrial sheath during spermiogenesis (Ursini et al., 1999; Foresta et al., 2002), while nuclear GPX4 (nGPX4) prevents the oxidation of protamines' thiol groups to prevent DNA damage (Conrad et al., 2005). Peroxiredoxins are antioxidant enzymes that are present throughout the entire sperm cell, can reduce oxidized phospholipids, and can scavenge ONOO⁻, inorganic and organic hydroperoxides (Zhang et al., 1997; Peshenko & Shichi, 2001; Dubuisson et al., 2004; O'Flaherty & Rico de Souza, 2010; O'Flaherty, 2014b).

1.3.2 Vulnerability of spermatozoa to oxidative stress

Spermatozoa is highly susceptible to oxidative stress since cytosolic SOD1, which is the primary sperm SOD isoform, exists at minimal levels due to the removal of peroxisomes during spermatogenesis (Zini et al., 1993; Aitken et al., 1994; Aitken et al., 1996). The protection provided by other SOD isoforms is negligible since mitochondrial SOD2 and extracellular SOD3 levels in human spermatozoa are insignificant (Peeker et al., 1997). Contrary to somatic cells, which possess high levels of catalase (Chance et al., 1979; Schrader & Fahimi, 2004),

spermatozoa lack catalase since during spermatogenesis, catalase-containing peroxisomes are removed (Luers et al., 2006; Nenicu et al., 2007). Furthermore, treatment of human spermatozoa with sodium azide, a catalase inhibitor, failed to increase sperm H₂O₂ and lipid peroxidation levels, suggesting that catalase is absent in human spermatozoa (O'Flaherty, 2014a). Human spermatozoa, testes and seminal plasma do not contain GPX2, GPX3, GPX4, or GPX5 (Williams et al., 1998; Chabory et al., 2010). GPX1 can scavenge H₂O₂ by using reduced glutathione (GSH) (Lubos et al., 2011); however GPX1^{-/-} male mice remain fertile (Ho et al., 1997). Indeed, no significant increase in lipid peroxidation levels was observed for human spermatozoa treated with H_2O_2 coupled with inhibitors that impair GPX1 activity, such as carmustine (glutathione reductase inhibitor) or diethyl maleate (GSH scavenger), compared to untreated controls (O'Flaherty, 2014a). These findings confirm that maintenance of fertility in men doesn't require GPX1 (Ho et al., 1997; O'Flaherty, 2014a). Additionally, GPX4 isoforms are not essential to protect mature spermatozoa against oxidative stress since mGPX4 lacks antioxidant activity in mature human spermatozoa as it is an insoluble structural protein forming part of the mitochondrial sheath (Ursini et al., 1999; Foresta et al., 2002), and despite having higher levels of free thiols within their sperm head compared to wild-type, nGPX4-/- mice remain fertile (Conrad et al., 2005).

1.3.3 Characterization of Peroxiredoxins (PRDXs)

Peroxiredoxins are selenium-independent and acidic antioxidant enzymes that are present in all eukaryotes and prokaryotes (Rhee et al., 2001; Hofmann et al., 2002; Wood, Poole, et al., 2003; Rhee et al., 2005). PRDXs are classified as either 1-Cys or 2-Cys PRDXs, depending on having one and two cysteine residues in their active site, respectively (Rhee et al., 2001). PRDXs have a peroxidase activity that scavenges H₂O₂, organic hydroperoxides and ONOO⁻ (Fisher, 2017). 2-Cys PRDXs include PRDXs1-5 (Rhee et al., 2001), and after reacting with ROS, they become oxidized and inactive (Figure 3). To re-activate 2-Cys PRDXs, they must be reduced by the thioredoxin-thioredoxin reductase (TRX/TRD) system, which requires NADPH provided by glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH), NADP isocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP-ICDH) and malic enzyme (ME) in spermatozoa (Figure 3) (Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018). In somatic cells, hyperoxidized 2-Cys PRDXs are reactivated by sulfinic acid reductases, such as sulfiredoxin (SRX), which is absent within spermatozoa, and sestrins (Figure 3) (Chang et al.,

2004; Jönsson & Lowther, 2007; Baek et al., 2012; Abbas et al., 2013; O'Flaherty, 2019). PRDX6 is the only 1-Cys PRDX, and when oxidized in somatic cells, its reactivation requires GSH and glutathione-S-transferase pi (GSTpi); however, it remains unclear whether GSTpi is present within human spermatozoa (Figure 4) (Ralat et al., 2006; Ralat et al., 2008; Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018). Contrary to hyperoxidized 2-Cys PRDXs, hyperoxidized PRDX6 can no longer be reactivated (Figure 4) (Manevich et al., 2009; O'Flaherty, 2019). During oxidative stress, hyperoxidized PRDXs form high molecular mass complexes with each other, therefore marking the transition of PRDXs from serving as ROS scavengers to serving as chaperones to prevent protein misfolding and/or unfolding (Figures 3, 4) (Jang et al., 2004; Rhee et al., 2005; Chae et al., 2012; O'Flaherty, 2019).



Figure 3: Schematic representation of the reactivation system of 2-Cys PRDXs

2-Cys PRDXs become inactivated through H₂O₂-mediated thiol oxidation. (2) NADPH required to reactivate oxidized 2-Cys PRDXs are provided by G6PDH, NADP-ICDH and ME.
(3) Increasing H₂O₂ levels results in hyperoxidized 2-Cys PRDXs, which form high molecular mass complexes to serve as chaperones that prevent protein misfolding/unfolding. (4) SRX and sestrins utilize ATP to reactivate hyperoxidized 2-Cys PRDXs, then GSH is used to form reduced 2-Cys PRDXs. The figure was taken from Scarlata & O'Flaherty (2020).



Figure 4: Schematic representation of the reactivation system of PRDX6

(1) PRDX6 becomes inactivated through H_2O_2 -mediated thiol oxidation. (2) GSTpi utilizes reduced GSH to reactivate oxidized PRDX6. (3) Another reduced GSH is used to fully reactivate oxidized PRDX6. (4) High H_2O_2 levels result in the formation of hyperoxidized PRDX6 that forms high molecular mass complexes with other hyperoxidized PRDXs since its reactivation can no longer occur. The figure was taken from Scarlata & O'Flaherty (2020).

Physiologically, PRDXs oxidation leads to an increase in ROS levels important for cell signalling, then GST/GSTpi and TRX/TRD system reduce oxidized PRDX6 and 2-Cys PRDXs, respectively, to decrease ROS levels (Wood, Poole, et al., 2003; Wood, Schröder, et al., 2003; O'Flaherty, 2014a). However, PRDXs hyperoxidation and cellular toxicity occur when deficient reducing equivalents are present due to the inactivity of enzymes involved in PRDXs reactivation (O'Flaherty, 2014a). Furthermore, NADPH deficiency also indirectly affects PRDX6 reactivation since the TRX/TRD system can also increase reduced GSH, which normally exists in low levels within spermatozoa (Li, 1975; Sun et al., 2001). During oxidative stress, spermatozoa cannot produce sufficient NADPH required to reactivate oxidized 2-Cys PRDXs and PRDX6 since elevated H₂O₂ levels lead to G6PDH inhibition (Griveau et al., 1995).

Peroxiredoxins are essential players in the antioxidant protection and redox signalling in different cell types, as evidenced by the fact that PRDX1 absence promotes higher susceptibility

to tumours, shorter lifespan, and elevated levels of DNA damage in mice (Neumann et al., 2003; Egler et al., 2005). Moreover, PRDX2 removal leads to faster senescence in embryonic fibroblasts displaying oxidative stress (Han et al., 2005). PRDXs are also involved in male reproduction since PRDX2 forms a complex with GPX4 to construct the mitochondrial sheath during spermiogenesis (Manandhar et al., 2009). Additionally, PRDX4 is important for acrosome formation in rats and for the prevention of testicular atrophy and DNA damage in mice spermatozoa (Sasagawa et al., 2001; Iuchi et al., 2009). PRDX5 is hypothesized to be important for the ability of spermatozoa to bind to zona pellucida since it is localized within the membrane of boar spermatozoa (van Gestel et al., 2007).

Among the members of the PRDXs family, PRDX6 is the only one that possesses Ca²⁺-independent phospholipase A₂ (iPLA₂) and lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase (LPCAT) that respectively removes oxidized phospholipids and reintegrates reduced fatty acids into sperm's plasma membrane (Fisher, 2017). Peroxidase activity of PRDX6 requires cysteine 47 (C47) residue localized within the pocket of the protein (Figure 5). In contrast, iPLA₂ activity of PRDX6 requires a catalytic triad formed by serine 32, aspartic acid 140 and histidine 26 (S32, D140, H26, respectively) localized on the protein surface (Figure 5) (Manevich et al., 2009). Head of oxidized phospholipids binds to the active site of iPLA₂, while the sn-2 fatty acyl chain binds to the active site of PRDX6 peroxidase (Manevich et al., 2007; Manevich et al., 2009). Moreover, PRDX6 is the sole PRDX found in all of the sperm's subcellular compartments, notably the head, mitochondria and flagellum, and can react with H₂O₂ at sufficiently low concentrations to promote capacitation (O'Flaherty & Rico de Souza, 2010). Studies using the PRDX6 knockout mice model have demonstrated that *Prdx6*^{-/-} male mice are infertile and possess spermatozoa with low quality and significant DNA damage (Ozkosem et al., 2015, 2016; Moawad et al., 2017; Scarlata et al., 2020).



Figure 5: Schematic representation of PRDX6 structure

PRDX6 is shown as a homodimer composed of a dark gray monomer and a strand-like monomer. S32 (serine 32), H26 (histidine 26) and D140 (aspartic acid 140) assemble to form a catalytic triad responsible for iPLA₂ activity. C47 (cysteine 47) serves as the catalytic center required for peroxidase activity. The figure was taken from Manevich et al., (2007).

1.3.4 PRDX6: primary protector of spermatozoa against oxidative stress

PRDXs are important for maintaining fertility in humans since infertile men with clinical varicocele or idiopathic infertility have low levels of PRDXs (Gong et al., 2012). Moreover, 14% and 90% of idiopathic infertile men have high levels of hyperoxidized (inactive) PRDX1 and PRDX6, respectively (Gong et al., 2012). Compared to fertile individuals, infertile patients have lower sperm motility and higher levels of lipid peroxidation and DNA damage in their spermatozoa (Gong et al., 2012). PRDXs are also important for maintaining fertility in rodents since spermatozoa from tBHP-treated Sprague-Dawley rats have high levels of hyperoxidized PRDX1 and PRDX6, lower motility and higher DNA oxidation levels compared to spermatozoa from untreated rats (Liu & O'Flaherty, 2017). Interestingly, spermatozoa from treated rats have increased amounts of PRDX1 and PRDX6 provided by the epididymal epithelium through the secretion of epididymosomes (Liu & O'Flaherty, 2017). However, as previously mentioned, these PRDXs were heavily oxidized and therefore inactive and incapable of protecting spermatozoa from oxidative stress, PRDX1 and PRDX6 hyperoxidation (Liu

& O'Flaherty, 2017) led to similar comorbidities observed in the spermatozoa of infertile men (Gong et al., 2012), suggesting that both PRDXs are important to support male fertility.

Previous studies involving PRDXs knockout mice models have shown that compared to 2-Cys PRDXs, PRDX6 is more important for the maintenance of male fertility as evidenced by the preservation of fertility and the absence of anomalies within the testis and spermatozoa of mice lacking functional genes that encode for PRDX1, PRDX2 or PRDX3 (Lee et al., 2003; Neumann et al., 2003; Li et al., 2007; Iuchi et al., 2009). Additionally, PRDX5^{-/-} mice are also fertile (Argyropoulou et al., 2016). PRDX4^{-/-} mice have higher levels of oxidative stress within their spermatozoa and testes and decreased sperm viability due to testicular atrophy; however, their fertility is not affected (Sasagawa et al., 2001; Iuchi et al., 2009). Similar to nGPX4^{-/-} mice, $Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice also have elevated free thiols levels within their sperm head (Ozkosem et al., 2016); however, Prdx6^{-/-} male mice are infertile (Ozkosem et al., 2015, 2016; Moawad et al., 2017; Scarlata et al., 2020). Prdx6^{-/-} males also have higher levels of DNA damage, lipid peroxidation and protein oxidation, as well as impaired sperm viability and motility compared to wild-type mice (Ozkosem et al., 2016). Considering that only $Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice are infertile among all PRDXs knockout models, PRDX6 is the primary antioxidant enzyme involved in preventing sperm oxidative stress and thus, ensuring male fertility (Ozkosem et al., 2015, 2016; Moawad et al., 2017; Scarlata et al., 2020).

The importance of PRDX6 as the primary antioxidant enzyme that protects spermatozoa against oxidative stress was further supported by the lower cleavage rates during *in vitro* fertilization obtained when $Prdx6^{-/-}$ spermatozoa or wild-type spermatozoa treated with 1-Hexadecyl-3-(trifluoroethyl)-sn-glycero-2-phosphomethanol (MJ33), an iPLA₂ inhibitor, were used compared to when untreated wild-type spermatozoa was used (Moawad et al., 2017). In human spermatozoa, PRDX6 has a stronger capacity to prevent lipid peroxidation than 2-Cys PRDXs, as evidenced by the higher sperm 4HNE levels observed when PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ were inactive (Figure 6) compared to when 2-Cys PRDXs were inactive (Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018). Consequentially, due to stronger 4HNE-mediated disruption of mitochondrial activity (Aitken et al., 2012), inhibition of PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ in human spermatozoa resulted in higher sperm mitochondrial O2⁺⁻ levels and associated oxidative stress (Figure 6)

compared to when 2-Cys PRDXs were inhibited (Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018). Additionally, among the inhibitors of PRDXs and their reactivation enzymes, only ezatiostat, an inhibitor of GSTpi, promoted the increase of ONOO⁻ levels in human spermatozoa treated with Da-NONOate and antimycin A, which is an inhibitor of complex III within mitochondria that prevents electron transfer, therefore, leading to an increase in O_2^{--} levels (Alexandre & Lehninger, 1984; Campo et al., 1992; Maguire et al., 1992; Xia et al., 1997; Pham et al., 2000; Aon et al., 2003), suggesting that PRDX6 peroxidase has a major role in scavenging ONOO⁻ in human spermatozoa (Figure 6) (Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018). Consequently, due to the resulting elevated levels of O_2^{--} and 4HNE, iPLA₂ inactivity led to a stronger increase in DNA oxidation levels (Figure 6) and a decrease in sperm viability compared to 2-Cys PRDXs inactivity (Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018).



Figure 6: Schematic depicting the involvement of PRDX6 in regulating parameters of human spermatozoa associated with male fertility

Inhibition of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ using ezatiostat and MJ33 respectively leads to increased lipid peroxidation, therefore resulting in the increase in sperm 4HNE levels. 4HNE promotes DNA damage, impairment of sperm motility and capacitation, and disruption of mitochondrial activity to generate O_2^{-} , which can dismutate into H₂O₂ or react with NO[•] to form ONOO⁻. H₂O₂ and ONOO⁻, as ROS, further promote lipid peroxidation. Modified from Fernandez & O'Flaherty (2018).

2. Research Rationale

2.1 Involvement of PRDX6 in sperm motility

Compared to wild-type mice spermatozoa, $Prdx6^{-/-}$ spermatozoa had lower total and progressive motility, suggesting that PRDX6 is important for maintaining sperm motility (Moawad et al., 2017). Due to oxidative stress associated with aging, the decrease in motility of $Prdx6^{-/-}$ spermatozoa was aggravated (Ozkosem et al., 2015). In Sprague-Dawley rats, oxidative stress caused by tBHP resulted in impairment of epididymal sperm motility associated with PRDX6 hyperoxidation, confirming that inactivation of PRDX6 results in the impairment of sperm motility (Liu & O'Flaherty, 2017). iPLA₂ is essential for the maintenance of sperm motility since mice spermatozoa treated with MJ33 had lower motility compared to untreated controls (Moawad et al., 2017). Among all ROS involved in sperm oxidative stress, ONOO⁻ is potentially the primary ROS responsible for disruption of sperm motility since treatment of Prdx6^{-/-} male mice with γ -tocopherol, which is a better scavenger of ONOO⁻ compared to α -tocopherol (Jiang et al., 2001; Galli et al., 2004), resulted in the improvement of sperm motility and restoration of fertility in Prdx6^{-/-} male mice (Scarlata et al., 2020). PRDX6 is also vital for human sperm motility since thiol-oxidized PRDX6 levels within spermatozoa of idiopathic infertility or varicocele patients were negatively correlated with sperm motility (Gong et al., 2012). Overall, these results suggest that the ROS-scavenging capacity of PRDX6 is necessary to prevent the occurrence of events that impair sperm motility, namely tyrosine nitration or s-glutathionylation of tubulin, and enzymes involved in energy generation (Fratelli et al., 2004; Landino et al., 2004; Morielli & O'Flaherty, 2015).

2.2 Involvement of PRDX6 in sperm capacitation

PRDX6 ensures maintenance of sperm capacitation since $Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice had a lower percentage of capacitated spermatozoa compared to wild-type mice (Ozkosem et al., 2016). iPLA₂ activity may account for PRDX6's ability to maintain sperm capacitation since iPLA₂ inhibition was sufficient to impair capacitation to similar levels experienced by spermatozoa from $Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice (Ozkosem et al., 2016). In accordance with this result, administration of penicillamine (PEN), a ROS scavenger, was unable to increase the levels of phosphotyrosine and phosphorylated PKA substrates to normal levels when iPLA₂ of human spermatozoa was inhibited, suggesting that iPLA₂ activity is necessary for sperm capacitation to occur (Lee et al., 2017). Additionally,

iPLA₂ inhibition impaired actin polymerization (Lee et al., 2017). Collectively, these results suggest that the ROS-scavenging capacity of PRDX6 is potentially involved in preventing ROSand 4HNE-mediated inhibition of capacitation-associated kinases (Pronzato et al., 1990; Chiarpotto et al., 1999; Sampey et al., 2007), and actin s-glutathionylation (Dalle-Donne et al., 2005; Bizzozero et al., 2007).

2.3 Involvement of PRDX6 in mice's reproductive outcomes

PRDX6 is essential for in vivo fertilization since Prdx6^{-/-} mice had lower pups/male and litters/male compared to wild-type mice, which were worsened by oxidative stress associated with aging (Ozkosem et al., 2015). The importance of PRDX6 in preventing oxidative stress is highlighted by the fact that $Prdx6^{-/-}$ male mice produced smaller litter sizes compared to wildtype mice in response to tBHP treatment (Ozkosem et al., 2016). Among all ROS involved in sperm oxidative stress, ONOO⁻ is potentially the primary ROS responsible for the impairment of mice's reproductive outcomes since when $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males were treated with γ -tocopherol, their litters sizes increased similarly to that of wild-type males fed with control diet, indicating that high levels of ONOO⁻ is a major cause of male infertility in this mouse model (Scarlata et al., 2020). Prdx6^{-/-} spermatozoa and MJ33-treated wild-type spermatozoa also suffer from impaired capacitation and lower membrane fluidity compared to spermatozoa from wild-type mice (Ozkosem et al., 2016); therefore, it is possible that sperm binding to the zona pellucida and oolemma is impaired when PRDX6 iPLA2 is inactive or absent. Indeed, the absence of either PRDX6 or its iPLA₂ activity decreased the recurrence of acrosome reaction and prevents binding of spermatozoa to both zona pellucida and oolemma (Moawad et al., 2017). These abnormalities may also account for the impairment of in vitro fertilization since the usage of Prdx6^{-/-} spermatozoa led to lower in vitro fertilization rates, decreased formation of male/female pronuclei, and inability to produce viable blastocysts (Moawad et al., 2017).

2.4 Involvement of PRDX6 in sperm epididymal maturation

PRDX6 absence leads to impaired sperm cytoplasm removal since $Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice had higher percentages of spermatozoa with cytoplasmic droplet retention (CDR) compared to wild-type mice, and this abnormal phenotype was worsened by oxidative stress associated with aging (Ozkosem et al., 2015). ONOO⁻ is potentially the primary ROS responsible for preventing sperm

cytoplasm removal since γ -tocopherol-treated $Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice had similar percentages of spermatozoa with CDR compared to wild-type mice fed with the control diet (Scarlata et al., 2020). In addition to its ability to prevent lipid peroxidation of sperm membrane (Ozkosem et al., 2016), PRDX6 also prevents lipid peroxidation of the epididymal epithelium as evidenced by the elevated 4HNE levels within cauda epididymis of tBHP-treated rats that are associated with PRDX6 hyperoxidation (Liu & O'Flaherty, 2017; Wu et al., 2020). Collectively, these results suggest that lipid peroxidation of epididymal epithelium occurs in $Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice (Liu & O'Flaherty, 2017; Wu et al., 2020) and may be involved in the impairment of molecular mechanisms required for sperm cytoplasm absorption during epididymal maturation.

2.5 Involvement of PRDX6 in the prevention of sperm DNA oxidation

PRDX6 ensures the protection of human sperm DNA from damage since thiol-oxidized PRDX6 levels in idiopathic infertility or varicocele patients are positively correlated with DNA fragmentation levels (Gong et al., 2012). In mice, PRDX6 serves the same function since its absence leads to a decrease in protamination of chromatin, therefore exposing DNA bases to oxidation and making DNA strands more susceptible to fragmentation (Ozkosem et al., 2015). Similarly, in tBHP-treated Sprague-Dawley rats, the increase in epididymal sperm DNA oxidation levels associated with PRDX6 hyperoxidation further confirms that PRDX6 must be active to prevent sperm DNA damage (Liu & O'Flaherty, 2017). PRDX6 can withstand the long-term effects of oxidative stress through its ROS-scavenging capacity, as evidenced by the long-term decrease in sperm DNA oxidation and fragmentation levels and the long-term increase in protamination levels observed in tBHP-treated wild-type mice (Ozkosem et al., 2016). ONOO⁻ is potentially the primary ROS responsible for promoting sperm DNA damage since γ -tocopherol-treated *Prdx6^{-/-}* mice had similar DNA oxidation levels compared to wild-type mice fed with the control diet (Scarlata et al., 2020).
3. Hypothesis and Objective

Since *Prdx6^{-/-}* mice are infertile (Ozkosem et al., 2015, 2016; Moawad et al., 2017; Scarlata et al., 2020) and PRDX6 has peroxidase and iPLA₂ activities (Fisher, 2017), we aimed to assess the involvement of both PRDX6 enzymatic activities on the maintenance of male mouse fertility. I hypothesized that the absence of either of these PRDX6 enzymatic activities would impair male mouse fertility. The objective was to investigate changes in sperm parameters associated with male fertility for knock-in strains lacking either PRDX6 enzymatic activities and were challenged with an *in vivo* oxidative stress induced by tBHP treatment.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1 Materials

Mouse monoclonal anti-3-nitrotyrosine and rabbit polyclonal anti-4HNE antibodies were purchased from Abcam (Toronto, Ontario, Canada). The goat polyclonal anti-4HNE antibody was purchased from MilliporeSigma (Burlington, Massachusetts, USA). Mouse monoclonal anti-8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) antibody was purchased from StressMarq Biosciences (Victoria, British Columbia, Canada). Donkey polyclonal anti-rabbit (H+L) and goat polyclonal anti-mouse (H+L) antibodies, both conjugated with horseradish peroxidase were purchased from Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc (West Grove, Pennsylvania, USA). Goat polyclonal anti-mouse (H+L) and donkey polyclonal anti-goat (H+L) antibodies, both conjugated with AlexaFluor 555, and Giemsa stain, were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Saint-Laurent, Québec, Canada). Other chemicals used were of at least reagent grade and purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, Missouri, USA).

4.2 Animals

Two-month-old male C57BL/6J (wild-type; purchased from Charles River Laboratories, Laval, Quebec, Canada), Prdx6^{-/-}, C47S (peroxidase-deficient) and D140A (iPLA₂-deficient) knock-in strains were used in this study. $Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice were generated by the laboratory of Dr. Ye Shih Ho (Wayne State University) and Dr. Aron Fisher (University of Pennsylvania) through the construction of a vector, which promotes targeted modification of PRDX6's exon 1 and 2 and is transfected into mouse embryonic stem cells (Mo et al., 2003). C47S (cysteine to serine transition at codon 47 of exon 2) and D140A (aspartate to alanine transition at codon 140 of exon 4) mice were generated through homologous recombination using targeting vectors (Li et al., 2015). The progeny with black coat color (C57BL/6J mice) and the desired genetic modifications were backcrossed until full homozygosity was achieved, which was confirmed by Jackson Laboratory's microsatellite analysis (Liu et al., 2010). Prdx6^{-/-}, C47S and D140A mice to start our colonies were generously donated by Dr. Aron Fisher (University of Pennsylvania). C57BL/6J mice (wild-type) were used as controls. The four mouse colonies were maintained at the Research Institute of McGill University Health Centre. Mice were given food and water ad *libitum* and were exposed to 14 hours of light and 10 hours of dark. Regulations implemented by the Canadian Council for Animal Care and approved by the Animal Care Committees of McGill

University and the Research Institute of McGill University Health Centre were followed (animal protocol #5656).

Mice from each strain were intraperitoneally injected daily with either saline or 60 μ M tBHP/100 g of body weight for 9 consecutive days to determine the effects of tBHP-induced oxidative stress on epididymal spermatozoa (Rajesh Kumar et al., 2002). Twenty-four hours after tBHP treatment, mice were euthanized, and then epididymides were extracted and put in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) composed of 1 mM KH₂PO₄, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, pH 7.4. 27G needle was used to puncture cauda epididymides five times to allow spermatozoa to swim out into the medium for 10 mins at 37°C. Spermatozoa were then diluted to 5×10⁶ cells/ml using Biggers, Whitten and Whittingham medium (BWW medium; 91.5 mM NaCl, 4.6 mM KCl, 1.7 mM CaCl₂, 1.2 mM KH₂PO₄, 1.2 mM MgSO₄, 25 mM NaHCO₃, 5.6 mM d-glucose, 0.27 mM sodium pyruvate, 44 mM sodium lactate, 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4).

4.3 Thermoresistance test to assess sperm motility

Cauda epididymis spermatozoa from the four mice strains were incubated in PBS, which is a solution that lacks nutrients required for sperm survival (Bedard et al., 2011), at 37°C. Sperm aliquots were taken at various time points (0, 30, 60, 90, 120 min) to determine sperm motility using a computer-assisted sperm analysis (CASA) system with Sperm Vision HR software version 1.01 (Minitube, Ingersoll, ON, Canada).

4.4 Assessment of sperm capacitation

Cauda epididymis spermatozoa in BWW medium (pH 7.4) were incubated with (capacitated) or without (non-capacitated) 5 mg/ml bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 20 mM HCO₃⁻ (capacitation inducers) for 60 min at 37°C (Ozkosem et al., 2016). Then, sperm suspensions were centrifuged at 600 x g for 5 min at 20°C. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was resuspended in BWW medium and incubated with 5 μ M progesterone for 30 min at 37°C to induce the acrosome reaction. After incubation, sperm samples were centrifuged at 600 x g for 5 min at 20°C and fixed with 100% ethanol. Sperm samples were smeared onto slides. Samples were incubated with Giemsa stain (1:10 solution) diluted in ddH₂O for 1.5 hours at 20°C. Slides were washed with ddH₂O. 30 μ L of ddH₂O was added on each slide to rehydrate samples prior to

the addition of the coverslip. Acrosomes were labelled with Giemsa stain displaying a purple colour. Spermatozoa without labelled acrosome (Giemsa stain-negative) were considered acrosome-reacted. At least 200 spermatozoa per sample were analyzed using a Carl Zeiss Axiophot microscope (Oberkochen, Germany) at 1000X magnification.

4.5 Assessment of sperm epididymal maturation

The presence of the cytoplasmic droplet in cauda epididymis spermatozoa was considered to assess sperm epididymal maturation. Fields obtained through CASA system during sperm motility assessment were saved, then two hundred spermatozoa per sample were visually inspected for the presence of the cytoplasmic droplet. Percentages of spermatozoa with cytoplasmic droplet retention were recorded for each group.

4.6 Quantification of reproductive outcomes

After treatment, control and tBHP-treated males from the four strains were mated with agematched wild-type females (ratio 1:1). Mice reproductive outcomes (litter sizes and the number of unsuccessful mating) were quantified after three consecutive matings. Female mice were checked daily for the presence of a vaginal plug to confirm the mating. Males were euthanized after the last mating and then organs were harvested.

4.7 SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting to determine 4HNE and nitrotyrosine levels in spermatozoa

Sperm suspensions in BWW medium were supplemented with sample buffer containing dithiothreitol (DTT). Samples were heated at 100°C for 5 min, then centrifuged at 21,000 RCF for 5 min at 20°C. Supernatant aliquots were loaded into 10% polyacrylamide gels. SDS-PAGE electrophoresis was conducted using electrophoresis buffer 1x (25 mM Tris base, 182 mM glycine, 0.1% SDS). Transfer buffer 1x (25 mM Tris base, 192 mM glycine, 20% methanol) was used for protein transfer into nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were blocked using 5% skim milk in 2 mM Tris (pH 7.8)-buffered saline and 0.1% Tween 20 (TTBS 1X) for 1 hour at 20°C. Membranes were washed with TTBS 1X and then incubated with either 1:500 anti-4HNE or 1:1000 anti-nitrotyrosine antibodies overnight at 4°C. Following incubation, membranes were washed 5 times (10 min each) with TTBS 1X. Then, membranes were incubated with a

horseradish peroxidase-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit or goat anti-mouse antibody (1:5,000) diluted in TTBS 1X for 1 hour at 20°C, for 4HNE and nitrotyrosine, respectively. Membranes were washed and then incubated with enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) solution for 3 min at 20°C to detect positive immunoreactive bands using radiographic films.

Equal loading controls were performed by stripping the membranes using stripping buffer for 5 min at 20°C. Membranes were washed, blocked using 5% skim milk for 1 hour at 20°C, washed, and then incubated with the anti- α -tubulin antibody (1:10,000 dilution). Membranes were washed and then incubated with goat anti-mouse antibody diluted in TTBS 1X for 45 min at 20°C. Membranes were washed and then incubated with ECL solution for 3 min at 20°C. Films were developed to detect positive immunoreactive tubulin bands. Densitometry analysis was done using ImageJ version 1.53 (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland, USA). The relative intensity of each band was obtained and normalized to the respective intensity of α -tubulin band.

4.8 Immunocytochemistry to determine 4HNE and nitrotyrosine levels in spermatozoa

Levels of 4HNE and nitrotyrosine in the sperm plasma membrane were determined in nonpermeabilized spermatozoa. Sperm samples were smeared onto slides. Slides were dried at 20°C. Slides were rehydrated with PBS + 0.1% Triton (PBS-T) for 5 min and then incubated in fresh PBS-T for 25 min at 20°C. Slides were dried briefly. A circle was drawn onto each slide using ImmedgePen. 1% horse serum in PBS-T (for 4HNE) and 5% goat serum in PBS-T (for nitrotyrosine) was used for blocking for 30 min at 20°C. Slides were washed with PBS-T and then incubated with anti-4HNE (1:100 dilution in 1% horse serum in PBS-T) or antinitrotyrosine (1:100 dilution in 1% goat serum in PBS-T) antibody overnight at 4°C. Slides were washed and then incubated with a donkey anti-goat antibody (1:2000 dilution in PBS-T + 1% BSA) for 4HNE, or with a goat anti-mouse antibody (1:1000 dilution in PBS-T + 1% BSA) for nitrotyrosine, for 1 hour at 20°C. Slides were washed. ProLong Antifade with DAPI was added prior to the coverslip application. Negative control was treated with PBS-T rather than the primary antibody. Leica DFC450C microscope at 40X magnification with Leica Application Suite X (LASX) software (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) was used to take images for each sample at the same exposure time. ImageJ was used to subtract background fluorescence and to quantify average relative fluorescence intensity (RFI) for each sample. More than 200 spermatozoa were included in the analysis for each sample. To localize intracellular 4HNE and nitrotyrosine fluorescence signal in spermatozoa, spermatozoa were permeabilized using 100% methanol for 10 min at -20°C prior to rehydration with PBS-T. Carl Zeiss Axiophot (Oberkochen, Germany) at 1000X magnification with Northern Eclipse V8 software (Empix Imaging Inc., Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) was used for localization of 4HNE fluorescence signal within permeabilized spermatozoa.

4.9 Immunocytochemistry to determine DNA oxidation levels in spermatozoa

Sperm DNA oxidation was assessed by determining the levels of 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) (Scarlata et al., 2020). Sperm samples were smeared onto slides. Slides were dried at 20°C. Slides were treated with 20 mM H₂O₂, washed with PBS-T and then incubated with resuspension buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 + 1% SDS + 40 mM DTT + 1 mM EDTA) for 5 min at 20°C. Slides were washed and then dried briefly. A circle was drawn onto each slide using ImmedgePen. 5% goat serum in PBS-T was used for blocking for 1 hour at 20°C. Slides were washed and then incubated with anti-8OHdG antibody (1:100 dilution in 1% goat serum in PBS-T) overnight at 4°C. Slides were washed and then incubated with a goat anti-mouse antibody (1:2000 dilution in PBS-T + 1% BSA) for 1 hour at 20°C. Slides were washed. ProLong Antifade with DAPI was added prior to the coverslip application. Negative control was treated with PBS-T rather than the primary antibody. Leica DFC450C microscope at 40X magnification with Leica Application Suite X (LASX) software (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) was used to take images for each sample at the same exposure time. ImageJ was used to subtract background fluorescence and to quantify the average RFI for each sample. More than 200 spermatozoa were included in the analysis for each sample. Results of DNA oxidation were expressed as percentages of spermatozoa with a strong signal for 80HdG.

4.10 Statistical analysis

All results are presented as mean \pm SEM where the medians are included in the dot plot graphs. The normality of the data and homogeneity of variances were determined using Shapiro–Wilk and Bartlett tests, respectively. We used the two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni tests (to assess changes due to genotype and treatment) and chi-square tests as appropriate using GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) to determine statistical differences among groups.

5. Results

5.1 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ and oxidative stress on male mice fertility

We wanted to know the consequences of PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ absence in male mice coupled with *in vivo* oxidative stress generated by tBHP treatment. As previously reported (Ozkosem et al., 2016), tBHP treatment promoted a higher number of unsuccessful matings and smaller litter sizes in $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males, compared to wild-type males (Table 1 and Figure 7). Wild-type control males had the lowest number of unsuccessful matings. When wild-type males were treated with tBHP, the numbers of unsuccessful mating were similar to those observed in control $Prdx6^{-/-}$, C47S and D140A males. tBHP treatment promoted a trend of increase in the number of unsuccessful matings for all strains; however, no significant differences were recorded among them.

Number of unsuccessful matings

Strain	Control	tBHP-treated
Wild-type	0 ^{&}	5
C47S	5	10
D140A	5	10
Prdx6 ^{-/-}	6	11

Table 1: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA2 absence leads to impaired mating of mice.

The number of unsuccessful matings was recorded for control and treated mice strains after gestation. Control and treated males were intraperitoneally injected with saline and tBHP respectively for 9 days, then bred with age-matched wild-type female mice thrice. Unsuccessful matings are defined as matings that produced no pups. n = 15 matings for each group. [&] means lower than all others. Chi-Square test, $p \le 0.05$.

Control wild-type males produced the largest litters among all groups (Figure 7). Treated wildtype males had similar litter sizes compared to control mutant males. No significant differences in the average litter sizes were observed among control and treated mutant males. Treated mutant males produced significantly smaller litters compared to their respective controls.



Figure 7: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA2 absence leads to decreased litter sizes.

Average number of litter sizes produced by 5 males from each mouse strain after 3 consecutive matings. # means higher than all other groups. WT: wild-type strain. * means significant differences within the same strain. ANOVA and Tukey tests; p<0.05.

5.2 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ on sperm epididymal maturation

Retention of the cytoplasmic droplet by spermatozoon is a marker for impaired epididymal function (Dadoune, 1988); therefore, elevated percentage of spermatozoa with cytoplasmic droplet retention (CDR) reflects the impairment of sperm epididymal maturation (Syntin & Robaire, 2001). Control wild-type males had the lowest percentages of spermatozoa with CDR among all groups (Figure 8). Percentages of spermatozoa with CDR in treated wild-type males were similar to that observed in control mutant males. No significant differences in percentages of spermatozoa with CDR were observed among control, and among treated mutant males. The tBHP treatment induced a significant increase in percentages of spermatozoa with CDR for all strains.





Fields provided by CASA during sperm motility assessment were used to quantify percentages of spermatozoa (>200 spermatozoa/sample) that had a visible cytoplasmic droplet within their structure. n = 5 mice for each group. WT: wild-type strain. * means significant differences within same strain. @ means smaller than all others. Two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni posthoc tests; p<0.05.

5.3 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ on lipid peroxidation levels in spermatozoa

We determined lipid peroxidation in spermatozoa by assessing the levels of 4HNE, a subproduct of lipid peroxidation (Benedetti et al., 1980; Saxena, 2014), using immunoblotting. Control wild-type males had the lowest sperm 4HNE levels among all groups (Figure 9). The tBHP treatment significantly increased sperm 4HNE levels for all strains. Sperm 4HNE levels of treated wild-type males were similar compared to that of control mutant males. No significant differences in sperm 4HNE levels were observed among control and among treated mutant strains.



Figure 9: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ absence leads to increased formation of 4HNE adducts.

Representative immunoblot depicting the levels of sperm 4HNE for each group. Densitometry analysis was conducted using ImageJ to measure the relative intensity of 4HNE signal for each strain. Each sperm sample was done by pooling epididymal spermatozoa from 3 different males. A total of 4 of these samples per group were used for the analysis. @ means smaller than all others. WT: wild-type strain. * means significant differences within the same strain. Two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni posthoc tests; p<0.05.

We used non-permeabilized spermatozoa for immunocytochemistry to determine the localization of sperm membrane proteins that are adducted by 4HNE, as well as their levels for each group. Strong labelling is present within the sperm head, particularly within the acrosome and nucleus (Figure 10A). Labelling is also observed within the entire flagellum, notably within midpiece, principal piece and end piece. Permeabilized spermatozoa were also used to localize the intracellular proteins that 4HNE adducts. A similar pattern of 4HNE labelling was observed in permeabilized spermatozoa (Figure 11).

Spermatozoa from mutant strains, irrespective of treatment, had significantly higher 4HNE levels compared to that of control wild-type males (Figure 10B). Spermatozoa from treated $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males had the highest 4HNE levels among all groups. Spermatozoa from treated wild-type males had elevated levels of 4HNE that were similar to those recorded in spermatozoa from control and treated C47S and D140A males, and control $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males. The tBHP treatment significantly increased 4HNE levels of spermatozoa from wild-type and $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males.



Figure 10A: Representative pictures depicting the intensity of 4HNE labelling in nonpermeabilized spermatozoa from each group.

Fluorescence and brightfield images of non-permeabilized spermatozoa showing 4HNE labelling. WT: wild-type strain. White bar = 25 microns.







Figure 11: 4HNE labelling is observed throughout the entire structure of permeabilized spermatozoa.

Wild-type epididymal spermatozoa were permeabilized using 100% methanol for 10 min at - 20°C before being rehydrated with PBS-T. Fluorescence and DAPI image of permeabilized spermatozoa showing 4HNE labelling.

5.4 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ on tyrosine nitration levels in spermatozoa

We previously demonstrated that tyrosine nitration is induced by ONOO⁻ in mouse spermatozoa (Scarlata et al., 2020) and can be promoted by NO[•] donors in human spermatozoa (Morielli & O'Flaherty, 2015). The immunoblotting result revealed that spermatozoa from control wild-type males had the lowest nitrotyrosine levels among all groups (Figure 12). The tBHP treatment significantly increased nitrotyrosine levels in spermatozoa from each strain. Spermatozoa from control mutant males had lower nitrotyrosine levels compared to spermatozoa from their respective treated males. Spermatozoa from control D140A males had similar nitrotyrosine levels compared to spermatozoa from treated wild-type males.



Figure 12: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ absence leads to increased tyrosine nitration of sperm proteins.

Representative immunoblot depicting the levels of sperm nitrotyrosine for each group. Densitometry analysis was conducted using ImageJ to measure the relative intensity of nitrotyrosine signal for each strain. Each sperm sample was done by pooling epididymal spermatozoa from 3 different males. A total of 4 of these samples per group were used for the analysis. *@* means lowest among all others. WT: wild-type strain. * means significant differences in the same strain. Two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni posthoc tests; p<0.05.

By using non-permeabilized spermatozoa, we also quantified the levels of sperm membrane proteins that underwent tyrosine nitration. Non-permeabilized spermatozoa have strong labelling within the midpiece, moderate labelling within the principal piece and end piece, and weak labelling within the head (Figure 13A). Spermatozoa from treated $Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice had the highest nitrotyrosine levels among all groups (Figure 13B). Control and treated wild-type males had similar nitrotyrosine levels in their spermatozoa. Spermatozoa from control and treated C47S males had higher nitrotyrosine levels compared to spermatozoa from wild-type males. Interestingly, spermatozoa from control D140A males had similar nitrotyrosine levels compared to spermatozoa from wild-type males. However, the tBHP treatment promoted the increase of nitrotyrosine levels in spermatozoa from C47S males. Spermatozoa from control $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males had similar nitrotyrosine levels compared to spermatozoa from wild-type males. Compared to spermatozoa from wild-type males of nitrotyrosine levels in spermatozoa from D140A males to similar levels as that of spermatozoa from C47S males. Spermatozoa from control $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males had similar nitrotyrosine levels compared to spermatozoa from C47S males. Spermatozoa from C47S males from C47S males from C47S males.



Figure 13A: Representative pictures depicting the intensity of nitrotyrosine labelling in non-permeabilized spermatozoa from each group.

Fluorescence and brightfield images of non-permeabilized spermatozoa showing nitrotyrosine labeling. WT: wild-type strain. White bar = 25 microns.





Average RFI of nitrotyrosine signal was quantified in non-permeabilized epididymal spermatozoa from control and treated mice strains. > 200 spermatozoa per sample were analyzed using ImageJ. n = 4 mice for each strain. # means higher than control wild-type mice. WT: wild-type strain. * means significant differences within same strain. Two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni posthoc tests; p<0.05.

5.5 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ on sperm DNA oxidation Since $Prdx6^{-/-}$ spermatozoa show high levels of DNA oxidation (Ozkosem et al., 2015, 2016), we wanted to know whether the absence of either PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ is responsible for this abnormality. Spermatozoa from control wild-type and control D140A males had the lowest percentages of DNA oxidation among all groups (Figure 14). The tBHP treatment significantly increased percentages of spermatozoa with positive DNA oxidation labelling for wild-type, D140A and $Prdx6^{-/-}$ mice. Spermatozoa from control and treated C47S males had similar DNA oxidation percentages compared to spermatozoa from treated D140A and control $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males.



Figure 14: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ absence leads to increased vulnerability of mice spermatozoa to DNA oxidation.

RFI of DNA oxidation signal was quantified for > 200 permeabilized epididymal spermatozoa for each sample. Percentages of spermatozoa that reached the threshold RFI established for positive DNA oxidation labelling were recorded for each sample. n = 3 mice for each strain. @ means lower than all other groups. WT: wild-type strain. * means significant differences within the same strain. Two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni posthoc tests; p<0.05.

5.6 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA2 on sperm motility

Thermoresistance test using PBS facilitates assessment of sperm's ability to maintain their motility *in vitro* using a medium lacking nutrients required for sperm survival (Bedard et al., 2011). Thus, we can compare the ability of spermatozoa from each control strain to maintain their motility when subjected to an unfavourable environment. Total and progressive sperm motility of mutant males were lower at zero-time (baseline) compared to that of wild-type males (Figure 15). Total and progressive sperm motility of mutant strains followed a decreasing trend during 2-hour incubation in PBS and were significantly lower at all time points compared to that of wild-type males. Total and progressive sperm motility of wild-type males followed an increasing trend from baseline until 60 min, a decreasing trend from 60 min until 90 min, then slightly increased from 90 min until the end of incubation. No significant differences in total and progressive sperm motility were observed between the three mutant strains at all times.



Figure 15: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ absence leads to decreased sperm motility. Temporal change in the total and progressive sperm motility for each control strain throughout 2-hour incubation in PBS at 37°C. WT: wild-type strain. * means higher than all others at the same time. Two-way ANOVA and Tukey tests; n = 5 mice for each strain, p<0.05.

5.7 Effect of the absence of PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA2 on sperm capacitation

Since capacitation is essential for sperm to acquire fertilizing competence (de Lamirande & Gagnon, 1995; O'Flaherty et al., 2003; Florman & Ducibella, 2006), we compared the recurrence of sperm capacitation among the mouse strains by quantifying the percentage of acrosome reaction (%AR) after progesterone treatment. Capacitated wild-type spermatozoa had the highest %AR among all groups (Figure 16). Spermatozoa from mutant strains incubated under capacitating conditions had significantly lower %AR compared to that of capacitated wild-type spermatozoa. Capacitated spermatozoa from C47S males had significantly higher %AR compared to that of non-capacitated counterparts. However, this percentage was lower than that recorded for wild-type capacitated spermatozoa.



Figure 16: PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ absence leads to impaired sperm capacitation. Percentages of acrosome-reaction (%AR) of non-capacitated (NC) and BSA/HCO₃⁻-treated (CAP; capacitated) spermatozoa from each control strain were recorded after progesterone treatment. %AR was equal to the percentage of spermatozoa lacking the acrosome (Giemsa stain-negative) among >200 spermatozoa/sample assessed using bright field microscopy. n = 5 mice for each strain. # means higher than all others. WT: wild-type strain. * means significant difference within the same strain. Two-way ANOVA and Tukey tests; p<0.05.

6. Discussion

Results presented in this thesis confirm the importance of PRDX6 in ensuring male mice fertility (Ozkosem et al., 2015, 2016; Moawad et al., 2017; Scarlata et al., 2020) and suggest, for the first time, that PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ are both essential to ensure male mice fertility. Oxidative stress induced by the tBHP treatment caused the pup production of wild-type males to decrease to similar levels as that of control $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males (Ozkosem et al., 2016). Interestingly, we found that the absence of either PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ activities promoted the same abnormal reproductive outcome (reduction in litter sizes and high number of unsuccessful matings) (Figure 7 and Table 1), indicating that the two PRDX6 enzymatic activities are essential to maintain male mouse fertility.

Treated C47S and D140A males suffer from impaired epididymal sperm maturation, as evidenced by their higher percentages of spermatozoa with CDR compared to treated wild-type males (Figure 8). We observed that PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ prevent sperm lipid peroxidation in males treated with tBHP (Figures 9 and 10B). Previous studies involving rats have demonstrated that tBHP treatment leads to an increase in PRDX6 hyperoxidation in spermatozoa (Liu & O'Flaherty, 2017) and to an increase in 4HNE levels that is associated with a significant increase of PRDX6, and a trend of increase in catalase and PRDX1 levels within the epididymis (Wu et al., 2020). Interestingly, no significant increase in the expression of antioxidant enzymes was recorded within the testes of treated males (Wu et al., 2020). These findings highlight the primary role of PRDX6 in the antioxidant protection of the epididymis (Liu & O'Flaherty, 2017; Wu et al., 2020). The fact that high percentages of spermatozoa from C47S and D140A males showed retention of cytoplasmic droplets (Figure 8) suggests that the function of epididymis becomes impaired when either PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ is absent. Therefore, it is possible that lipid peroxidation of the epididymal epithelium, which may potentially occur in both C47S and D140A males, promotes inactivation of clear cells to prevent sperm cytoplasm absorption (Hermo et al., 1988; Sullivan & Belleannée, 2018), however further studies should be conducted to confirm this hypothesis. Impairment of epididymal function due to PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA2 absence may also suggest that activity of principal cells involved in the secretion of epididymosomes could have been affected (Sullivan, 2008), therefore potentially preventing the acquisition of antioxidant enzymes that could prevent sperm oxidative

stress (O'Flaherty, 2019). Increased retention of cytoplasmic droplets may have also contributed to the impairment of sperm motility (Figure 15), and capacitation (Figure 16) observed in C47S and D140A males since impaired cytoplasm removal leads to accumulation of ROS generated through SOD and G6PDH activity (Aitken et al., 1994; Griveau et al., 1995; Aitken et al., 1996; Kehrer, 2000). Lack of antioxidant protection due to the absence of either PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ may have also been worsened since impaired integrity of epididymal epithelium due to lipid peroxidation may have prevented binding of epididymosomes to sperm membrane, resulting in spermatozoa's inability to acquire antioxidant protection that could mitigate oxidative stress (O'Flaherty, 2019).

C47S males, irrespective of treatment, and treated D140A males had higher percentages of spermatozoa with positive DNA oxidation labeling compared to control wild-type males (Figure 14), and similar percentages compared to $Prdx6^{-/-}$ or treated wild-type males, suggesting that PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ are required to protect DNA bases from ROS-induced oxidation. Indeed, inhibition of either PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ led to a significant increase in human sperm DNA oxidation levels (Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018). For all groups, except for treated wild-type males, a trend of increase in sperm nitrotyrosine levels (Figure 13B) was similar to that of percentages of spermatozoa with positive DNA oxidation labeling (Figure 14). Moreover, in agreement with this result, when $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males, which normally have elevated levels of sperm DNA oxidation, were fed with γ -tocopherol-enriched diet, their sperm DNA oxidation levels decreased to similar levels recorded in wild-type males fed with control diet (Scarlata et al., 2020). Considering that γ -tocopherol is a more efficient scavenger of ONOO⁻ compared to α tocopherol (Jiang et al., 2001; Galli et al., 2004), these results suggest that ONOO⁻ is the primary ROS responsible for sperm DNA oxidation (Scarlata et al., 2020). Treated wild-type males were more vulnerable to sperm DNA oxidation compared to control wild-type males (Figure 14), which was confirmed by a previous study (Ozkosem et al., 2016), despite having low nitrotyrosine levels (Figures 12 and 13B). Due to oxidative stress experienced by treated wildtype males, as evidenced by their elevated sperm 4HNE levels (Figures 9 and 10B), it's reasonable to believe that other ROS, apart from ONOO⁻, generated through 4HNE-mediated disruption of mitochondrial activity (Aitken et al., 2012) may have contributed to its increase in percentages of spermatozoa with positive DNA oxidation labeling (Figure 14). Indeed, elevated sperm DNA oxidation levels have been associated with abnormal mitochondrial function resulting in the production of high levels of O_2^{\bullet} that can dismutate to H_2O_2 through SOD activity (Griveau et al., 1995; Kehrer, 2000; Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018).

Previous in vitro study has shown that the pharmacological inhibition of either PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ activities results in high levels of lipid peroxidation in human spermatozoa (Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018). The absence of the PRDX6 gene also leads to higher sperm lipid peroxidation levels in mouse spermatozoa (Ozkosem et al., 2016). In accordance with these results, spermatozoa from control and treated $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males have higher 4HNE levels in both non-permeabilized (Figure 10B) and whole spermatozoa (Figure 9) compared to wild-type counterparts, confirming that PRDX6 prevents sperm lipid peroxidation. Additionally, PRDX6 prevents lipid peroxidation through its two enzymatic activities, as evidenced by the higher sperm 4HNE levels of control knock-in strains compared to that of control wild-type males (Figures 9 and 10B). Interestingly, treated wild-type males had higher 4HNE levels within both whole spermatozoa (Figure 9) and non-permeabilized spermatozoa (Figure 10B) compared to control wild-type males, suggesting that wild-type mice suffer from sperm oxidative stress in response to tBHP treatment, a result that was confirmed by a previous study (Ozkosem et al., 2016). Considering that non-permeabilized spermatozoa from both control and treated groups of both knock-in strains had similar 4HNE levels compared to that of treated wild-type males (Figure 10B), it is possible that during tBHP-induced oxidative stress, wild-type spermatozoa suffer from lipid peroxidation because of the inactivation of iPLA₂ and PRDX6 peroxidase activities.

The absence of PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ impairs spermatozoa's ability to withstand oxidative stress, as evidenced by the higher formation of 4HNE adducts within whole spermatozoa of treated knock-in strains compared to that of treated wild-type males (Figure 9). 4HNE labelling is present throughout all of permeabilized spermatozoa's subcellular compartments (Figure 11); therefore, formation of 4HNE adducts occurs throughout all subcellular structures of spermatozoa. Several proteins have been shown to be adducted by 4HNE, notably enzymes involved in the electron transport chain (succinate dehydrogenase) (Aitken et al., 2012), tubulin, glycolytic enzymes (phosphofructokinase, aldolase-A), and

enzymes involved in Kreb's cycle (malate dehydrogenase 2) (Baker et al., 2015). Adduction of these proteins by 4HNE may be responsible for the impairment of sperm motility observed in all mutant males (Figure 15). A-kinase anchoring protein 4 (AKAP4), a protein that is associated with fibrous sheath and is important for sperm motility (Turner et al., 1998; Miki et al., 2002), also forms adducts with 4HNE (Nixon et al., 2019). Potential sperm membrane proteins that may form adducts with 4HNE are voltage-dependent anion-selective channel protein 2 (VDAC2) and Na⁺/K⁺ transporting ATPase subunit alpha-4 (ATP1A4) (Baker et al., 2015). VDAC2 is a channel that transports Ca²⁺ into mitochondria (Yeste et al., 2015) and is suggested to be present within either the acrosomal membrane or plasma membrane of both mouse and human spermatozoa (Triphan et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2011). VDAC2 inhibition results in decreased Ca²⁺ influx required for acrosome reaction (Liu et al., 2011). ATP1A4 is localized within the sperm membrane (Kaplan, 2002) and is involved in the maintenance of ion concentrations to preserve the resting potential of the sperm membrane (Feraille & Doucet, 2001). Rat spermatozoa that have inactive ATP1A4 display impaired motility, depolarization of plasma membrane, and lower intracellular pH (Jimenez et al., 2010). Furthermore, compared to fertile men, asthenozoospermic patients have lower sperm VDAC levels, while patients suffering from unilateral varicocele have lower sperm ATP1A4 levels (Agarwal et al., 2015; Hashemitabar et al., 2015).

As previously mentioned, PRDX6 peroxidase is the main ONOO⁻ scavenger in human spermatozoa (Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018). In accordance with this result, the intensity of nitrotyrosine labelling within non-permeabilized spermatozoa, which is found in the midpiece and principal piece of mouse (Figure 13A) and human spermatozoa (Morielli & O'Flaherty, 2015), is similar for control C47S and control *Prdx6^{-/-}* males (Figure 13B), suggesting that PRDX6 peroxidase could also be the main ONOO⁻ scavenger in mouse spermatozoa. Consequentially, spermatozoa from control D140A males have similar nitrotyrosine levels compared to that of treated wild-type males (Figures 12 and 13B), implying that the presence of PRDX6 peroxidase is sufficient to prevent the increase in ONOO⁻ levels. Noteworthy, despite PRDX6 peroxidase absence, levels of tyrosine-nitrated proteins within sperm membrane did not increase further in C47S males in response to tBHP treatment (Figure 13B), suggesting that removal of oxidized phospholipids by iPLA₂ may have been accelerated to prevent production of 4HNE, which can disrupt mitochondrial activity to generate O₂⁻⁻ that can react with NO⁺ to form

ONOO⁻ (Griveau et al., 1995; Packer et al., 1996; Herrero et al., 2001; Aitken et al., 2012). Conversely, despite the presence of PRDX6 peroxidase, levels of tyrosine nitrated sperm proteins increased significantly in response to tBHP treatment for D140A males (Figures 12 and 13B). The high affinity of PRDX6 peroxidase to H_2O_2 even at low concentrations required for capacitation may explain this result (O'Flaherty & Rico de Souza, 2010), therefore during tBHP-induced oxidative stress, H_2O_2 produced may have potentially oxidized and inactivated PRDX6 peroxidase, resulting in the inability to scavenge ONOO⁻ and the subsequent increase in nitrotyrosine levels. Accumulation of oxidized phospholipids due to iPLA₂ absence (Fisher, 2017) may have also contributed to the increase in sperm ONOO⁻ levels, leading to the increase in nitrotyrosine levels observed in spermatozoa of treated D140A males.

The absence of PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ increases the vulnerability of sperm membrane proteins to tyrosine nitration, as evidenced by the higher nitrotyrosine levels of nonpermeabilized spermatozoa from treated knock-in strains compared to that of treated wild-type males (Figure 13B). Within the sperm membrane, a potential target for tyrosine nitration is matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP9), a protein localized within the inner acrosomal membrane and is hypothesized to be important for sperm penetration through zona pellucida (Ferrer et al., 2012). Tyrosine nitration of MMP9 results in the inability of spermatozoa to bind to the zona pellucida and penetrate it to fertilize the oocyte (Wang et al., 2011). Additionally, the previous study has shown that inhibition of protein disulfide-isomerase A3 (ERp57), an enzyme that can catalyze the reduction of disulfide bonds (Frickel et al., 2004) and is present within the acrosome of rat spermatids and the mouse sperm membrane (Ohtani et al., 1993; Ellerman et al., 2006), leads to impaired sperm membrane fusion with oolemma (Inoue et al., 2005). It is possible that ERp57 also undergoes tyrosine nitration in mouse spermatozoa since this enzyme can be tyrosine nitrated as it was reported in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Casoni et al., 2005). Similarly, the absence of either PRDX6 enzymatic activities leads to increased vulnerability of intracellular proteins to tyrosine nitration, as demonstrated by the higher nitrotyrosine levels within whole spermatozoa of control and treated knock-in strains compared to that of their wild-type counterparts (Figure 12). Permeabilized spermatozoa from both mice (Scarlata et al., 2020) and humans (Morielli & O'Flaherty, 2015) have nitrotyrosine labelling within their head, midpiece and principal piece. Considering that in humans, proteins that

undergo tyrosine nitration are mainly found within Triton-insoluble fraction, it is possible that enzymes involved in glycolysis and Kreb's cycle account for the nitrotyrosine signal observed in both species (Morielli & O'Flaherty, 2015). Indeed, along with tubulin, these enzymes undergo tyrosine nitration during oxidative stress (Fratelli et al., 2004; Landino et al., 2004; Morielli & O'Flaherty, 2015). A potential tyrosine nitration target is glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), a glycolytic enzyme that is localized within the fibrous sheath of sperm flagellum (Westhoff & Kamp, 1997) and is thiol oxidized by H₂O₂ during oxidative stress (Elkina et al., 2011). Considering that PRDX1, PRDX5 and PRDX6 are also found within Triton-insoluble fraction, it's likely that these antioxidant enzymes also undergo tyrosine nitration, therefore resulting in increased sperm oxidative stress (O'Flaherty & Rico de Souza, 2010).

As previously mentioned, ONOO⁻ is involved in the impairment of mouse sperm motility (Scarlata et al., 2020), and PRDX6 peroxidase is the main ONOO⁻ scavenger in human spermatozoa (Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018). Considering that tubulin and enzymes involved in energy generation undergo tyrosine nitration during oxidative stress (Fratelli et al., 2004; Landino et al., 2004; Morielli & O'Flaherty, 2015), it is reasonable to believe that ONOOproduced through 4HNE-mediated disruption of mitochondrial activity (Griveau et al., 1995; Packer et al., 1996; Herrero et al., 2001; Aitken et al., 2012) promotes tyrosine nitration of these enzymes to impair sperm motility. For C47S males, it's possible that PRDX6 peroxidase absence led to the inability to scavenge ONOO⁻, therefore causing sperm motility to be impaired (Figure 15). For D140A males, it's plausible that sperm oxidative stress generated by incubation in PBS may have resulted in H₂O₂-induced PRDX6 peroxidase inhibition and subsequent disruption of sperm motility due to inability to scavenge ONOO⁻. Additionally, elevated lipid peroxidation levels in both C47S and D140A males (Figures 9 and 10B) may have also contributed to the impairment of sperm motility since the number of polyunsaturated fatty acids in the sperm membrane is positively correlated with sperm motility (Roqueta-Rivera et al., 2010; Safarinejad et al., 2010; Am-in et al., 2011; Martínez-Soto et al., 2013).

PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ inhibition impairs sperm capacitation since the %AR of capacitated spermatozoa from both C47S and D140A males was lower compared to that of wild-type males

(Figure 16). Interestingly, a small but significant increase in %AR was observed for spermatozoa from C47S males (Figure 16), suggesting that compared to PRDX6 peroxidase, iPLA₂ is more important for the maintenance of sperm capacitation. This result is further supported by the fact that capacitation of MJ33-treated wild-type spermatozoa was impaired to a similar level as that of $Prdx6^{-/-}$ spermatozoa (Ozkosem et al., 2016), confirming that iPLA₂ activity is essential for the maintenance of sperm capacitation. Results of this thesis demonstrate that elevated sperm 4HNE levels of control C47S and D140A males (Figures 9 and 10B) were associated with the impairment of sperm capacitation (Figure 16), suggesting that 4HNE may be the culprit for the low %AR observed in these strains. Several kinases such as PKA (Leclerc et al., 1996; O'Flaherty et al., 2004, 2005), PKC (O'Flaherty, de Lamirande, et al., 2006b) and ERK (de Lamirande & Gagnon, 2002; Thundathil et al., 2003) are important to ensure sperm capacitation. According to this observation, it's plausible that 4HNE impairs sperm capacitation by inactivating these kinases since high 4HNE levels promote inhibition of PKC and ERK activation in rat hepatocytes (Pronzato et al., 1990; Chiarpotto et al., 1999; Sampey et al., 2007). Furthermore, it's also reasonable to think that ROS produced by 4HNE-mediated disruption of mitochondrial activity (Aitken et al., 2012) also impair capacitation-associated phosphorylation pathways since elevated ROS levels can inhibit PKA and PKC (Ward et al., 2000; Humphries et al., 2002). Indeed, levels of phosphotyrosine and phosphorylated PKA substrates were lower, while lipid peroxidation levels were higher for MJ33-treated capacitated wild-type spermatozoa compared to that of untreated capacitated wild-type spermatozoa (Lee et al., 2017), suggesting that 4HNE and ROS are involved in the disruption of capacitation-associated phosphorylation pathways. Elevated ROS and 4HNE levels may also impair capacitation by preventing actin polymerization, an event required for acrosome reaction to occur (Brener et al., 2003; Breitbart et al., 2005), since actin can undergo oxidation by lipid peroxides and s-glutathionylation (Dalle-Donne et al., 2005; Bizzozero et al., 2007).

Despite a recent study indicating that ONOO⁻ is the primary ROS involved in inducing infertility (Scarlata et al., 2020), control D140A males, which possess low sperm nitrotyrosine levels (Figures 12 and 13B), remain infertile (Figure 7 and Table 1) due to elevated 4HNE (Figures 9 and 10B), sperm DNA oxidation levels (Figure 14) and percentages of spermatozoa with CDR (Figure 8) and impaired sperm motility (Figure 15) and capacitation (Figure 16), suggesting that

infertility is multi-causal and that oxidative stress can be established by a net increase in one particular ROS or a combination of them.

Indicators of poor sperm quality manifested in C47S and D140A males, notably elevated sperm 4HNE, nitrotyrosine, DNA oxidation levels, percentages of spermatozoa with CDR, and impairment of sperm motility and capacitation collectively contributed to their infertility (Figure 7 and Table 1). Another factor that may have promoted infertility in both knock-in strains is the presence of abnormalities within the sperm membrane, as evidenced by the lower sperm membrane fluidity (Ozkosem et al., 2016), and impairment of sperm's binding to both zona pellucida and oolemma caused by PRDX6 absence (Moawad et al., 2017). The inability for spermatozoa to bind to both zona pellucida and oolemma may be driven by ROS-induced oxidation/modification of important proteins involved in these processes, notably tyrosine nitration of MMP9, which, as previously mentioned, prevents oocyte fertilization due to premature induction of capacitation (Wang et al., 2011). Considering that presence of ERp57 is important to allow sperm membrane fusion with oolemma, potential tyrosine nitration of ERp57 may also lead to the inability for spermatozoon to fertilize the oocyte (Inoue et al., 2005). Izumo sperm-Egg fusion 1 (IZUMO1), a receptor localized within sperm membrane and is important for sperm membrane fusion with oolemma, could be another ROS target since IZUMO1-/animals are infertile (Inoue et al., 2005; Inoue et al., 2015; Young et al., 2016). Further research should be conducted to verify if the activity of these proteins is indeed impaired in both C47S and D140A mice.

The previous study has demonstrated that spermatogenesis normally occurs in $Prdx6^{-/-}$ males (Moawad et al., 2017). Their spermatozoa have identical morphology and acrosome structure compared to wild-type spermatozoa, suggesting that PRDX6 absence doesn't affect the testis (Moawad et al., 2017). Hence, results presented in this thesis indicate that the lack of antioxidant protection in $Prdx6^{-/-}$, C47S and D140A mice lead to defects within spermatozoa that occur post-spermatogenesis and within the epididymal epithelium, culminating in the impairment of mice's reproductive outcomes. A table summarizing the involvement of both PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ in the regulation of all parameters measured is provided in the next page (Table 2).

Parameter	Peroxidase	iPLA ₂
Sperm motility	Yes	Yes
Sperm capacitation	Yes	Yes (predominant)
Reproductive outcomes (without	Yes	Yes
tBHP)		
Reproductive outcomes (with tBHP)	Yes	Yes
Percentages of sperm with	Yes	Yes
cytoplasmic droplet retention		
(without tBHP)		
Percentages of sperm with	Yes	Yes
cytoplasmic droplet retention (with		
tBHP)		
Whole sperm 4HNE levels (without	Yes	Yes
tBHP)		
Whole sperm 4HNE levels (with	Yes	Yes
tBHP)		
Levels of 4HNE-adducted sperm	Yes	Yes
membrane proteins (without tBHP)		
Levels of 4HNE-adducted sperm	Yes	Yes
membrane proteins (with tBHP)		
Whole sperm nitrotyrosine levels	Yes (predominant)	Yes
(without tBHP)		
Whole sperm nitrotyrosine levels	Yes	Yes
(with tBHP)		
Levels of tyrosine-nitrated sperm	Yes	No
membrane proteins (without tBHP)		
Levels of tyrosine-nitrated sperm	Yes	Yes
membrane proteins (with tBHP)		
Sperm DNA oxidation levels	Yes	No
(without tBHP)		
Sperm DNA oxidation levels (with	Yes	Yes
tBHP)		

Table 2: PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ are involved in the regulation of parameters that are associated with male fertility

The words 'Yes' and 'No' imply that the absence of the corresponding PRDX6 enzymatic activity led to significant and insignificant effect on the research parameter compared to wild-type counterpart respectively. The word 'predominant' implies that the absence of the corresponding PRDX6 enzymatic activity has a stronger effect compared to the absence of the other enzymatic activity.

7. Conclusion

Infertility observed in C47S and D140A males is due to impaired sperm motility, capacitation, epididymal maturation, and elevated sperm lipid peroxidation, nitrotyrosine and DNA oxidation levels. tBHP treatment worsened infertility of C47S and D140A mice, suggesting that these strains lack antioxidant protection required to prevent sperm oxidative stress. PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ are independently required to support male mice fertility.

Results presented here could aid in designing novel diagnostic tools that could determine the exact causes of male infertility. Assays aimed to measure PRDX6 peroxidase, and iPLA₂ activities could provide insights into whether men's infertility is caused by PRDX6 inactivity and/or PRDX6 gene mutations. Moreover, considering that oxidative stress can be primarily caused by a specific ROS, notably ONOO⁻ (Scarlata et al., 2020), assays that can measure sperm nitrotyrosine levels could be used as guidance by physicians to prescribe γ -tocopherol, which if proven to be effective in infertile men, may potentially be a suitable drug for targeted antioxidant therapy against ONOO⁻-induced infertility (Jiang et al., 2001; Galli et al., 2004; Scarlata et al., 2020).

8. Future Directions

Results of this thesis suggest that PRDX6 peroxidase and iPLA₂ ensure male mouse fertility; therefore, research aimed to determine single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) present within the genes that encode for these enzymatic activities in infertile men but absent in fertile men would be beneficial in identifying genetic modifications that trigger male infertility. Additionally, clinical trials aimed to determine the efficacy of γ -tocopherol (Jiang et al., 2001; Galli et al., 2004; Scarlata et al., 2020) in mitigating oxidative stress in infertile men should also be conducted. Pre-clinical research that involves the administration of drugs that can upregulate the activity of either PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ in mice could aid in uncovering potential systematic and local side effects that fertility, the identity of proteins/enzymes that are affected by ROS generated by PRDX6 peroxidase or iPLA₂ absence should also be determined to identify novel markers of male infertility. These studies would provide information regarding the consequences of oxidative stress on molecular mechanisms necessary to ensure male fertility.

9. References

- Abbas, K., Riquier, S., & Drapier, J. C. (2013). Peroxiredoxins and sulfiredoxin at the crossroads of the NO and H2O2 signaling pathways. *Methods Enzymol*, *527*, 113-128.
- Abe, K., Takano, H., & Ito, T. (1983). Ultrastructure of the mouse epididymal duct with special reference to the regional differences of the principal cells. *Arch Histol Jpn*, 46(1), 51-68.
- Agarwal, A., Makker, K., & Sharma, R. (2008). Clinical relevance of oxidative stress in male factor infertility: an update. *Am J Reprod Immunol*, *59*(1), 2-11.
- Agarwal, A., Mulgund, A., Alshahrani, S., Assidi, M., Abuzenadah, A. M., Sharma, R., & Sabanegh, E. (2014). Reactive oxygen species and sperm DNA damage in infertile men presenting with low level leukocytospermia. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol*, *12*, 126.
- Agarwal, A., Sharma, R., Durairajanayagam, D., Ayaz, A., Cui, Z., Willard, B., Gopalan, B., & Sabanegh, E. (2015). Major protein alterations in spermatozoa from infertile men with unilateral varicocele. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol*, *13*, 8.
- Aitken, J., Krausz, C., & Buckingham, D. (1994). Relationships between biochemical markers for residual sperm cytoplasm, reactive oxygen species generation, and the presence of leukocytes and precursor germ cells in human sperm suspensions. *Mol Reprod Dev*, 39(3), 268-279.
- Aitken, R. J., Buckingham, D. W., Carreras, A., & Irvine, D. S. (1996). Superoxide dismutase in human sperm suspensions: relationship with cellular composition, oxidative stress, and sperm function. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 21(4), 495-504.
- Aitken, R. J., Gordon, E., Harkiss, D., Twigg, J. P., Milne, P., Jennings, Z., & Irvine, D. S. (1998). Relative impact of oxidative stress on the functional competence and genomic integrity of human spermatozoa. *Biol Reprod*, 59(5), 1037-1046.
- Aitken, R. J., & Vernet, P. (1998). Maturation of redox regulatory mechanisms in the epididymis. *J Reprod Fertil Suppl*, 53, 109-118.
- Aitken, R. J., Whiting, S., De Iuliis, G. N., McClymont, S., Mitchell, L. A., & Baker, M. A. (2012). Electrophilic aldehydes generated by sperm metabolism activate mitochondrial reactive oxygen species generation and apoptosis by targeting succinate dehydrogenase. J Biol Chem, 287(39), 33048-33060.
- Alexandre, A., & Lehninger, A. L. (1984). Bypasses of the antimycin a block of mitochondrial electron transport in relation to ubisemiquinone function. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 767(1), 120-129.
- Alsaikhan, B., Alrabeeah, K., Delouya, G., & Zini, A. (2016). Epidemiology of varicocele. Asian J Androl, 18(2), 179-181.

- Alvarez, J. G., & Aitken, R. J. (2012). Lipid Peroxidation in Human Spermatozoa. In A. Agarwal, R. J. Aitken, & J. G. Alvarez (Eds.), *Studies on Men's Health and Fertility*. Humana Press.
- Am-in, N., Kirkwood, R. N., Techakumphu, M., & Tantasuparuk, W. (2011). Lipid profiles of sperm and seminal plasma from boars having normal or low sperm motility. *Theriogenology*, 75(5), 897-903.
- Amaral, A., Lourenço, B., Marques, M., & Ramalho-Santos, J. (2013). Mitochondria functionality and sperm quality. *Reproduction*, 146(5), R163-174.
- Anderson, J. B., & Williamson, R. C. (1988). Testicular torsion in Bristol: a 25-year review. *Br J Surg*, 75(10), 988-992.
- Aon, M. A., Cortassa, S., Marbán, E., & O'Rourke, B. (2003). Synchronized whole cell oscillations in mitochondrial metabolism triggered by a local release of reactive oxygen species in cardiac myocytes. *J Biol Chem*, 278(45), 44735-44744.
- Argyropoulou, V., Goemaere, J., Clippe, A., Lefort, C., Tissir, F., Schakman, O., Gailly, P., Ahn, M.-T., Guiot, Y., Galant, C., & Knoops, B. (2016). 188 - Peroxiredoxin-5 as a Novel Actor in Inflammation and Tumor Suppression. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 100, S92.
- Arnoult, C., Kazam, I. G., Visconti, P. E., Kopf, G. S., Villaz, M., & Florman, H. M. (1999). Control of the low voltage-activated calcium channel of mouse sperm by egg ZP3 and by membrane hyperpolarization during capacitation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96(12), 6757-6762.
- Austin, C. R., & Bishop, M. W. H. (1958). Capacitation of Mammalian Spermatozoa. *Nature*, *181*(4612), 851-851.
- Aziz, N., Agarwal, A., Lewis-Jones, I., Sharma, R. K., & Thomas, A. J., Jr. (2004). Novel associations between specific sperm morphological defects and leukocytospermia. *Fertil Steril*, 82(3), 621-627.
- Baek, J. Y., Han, S. H., Sung, S. H., Lee, H. E., Kim, Y. M., Noh, Y. H., Bae, S. H., Rhee, S. G., & Chang, T. S. (2012). Sulfiredoxin protein is critical for redox balance and survival of cells exposed to low steady-state levels of H2O2. *J Biol Chem*, 287(1), 81-89.
- Baker, M. A., Weinberg, A., Hetherington, L., Villaverde, A. I., Velkov, T., Baell, J., & Gordon, C. P. (2015). Defining the mechanisms by which the reactive oxygen species by-product, 4-hydroxynonenal, affects human sperm cell function. *Biol Reprod*, 92(4), 108.
- Balaban, R. S., Nemoto, S., & Finkel, T. (2005). Mitochondria, oxidants, and aging. *Cell*, *120*(4), 483-495.

- Barroso, G., Morshedi, M., & Oehninger, S. (2000). Analysis of DNA fragmentation, plasma membrane translocation of phosphatidylserine and oxidative stress in human spermatozoa. *Hum Reprod*, *15*(6), 1338-1344.
- Bedard, N., Yang, Y., Gregory, M., Cyr, D. G., Suzuki, J., Yu, X., Chian, R. C., Hermo, L., O'Flaherty, C., Smith, C. E., Clarke, H. J., & Wing, S. S. (2011). Mice lacking the USP2 deubiquitinating enzyme have severe male subfertility associated with defects in fertilization and sperm motility. *Biol Reprod*, 85(3), 594-604.
- Belén Herrero, M., Chatterjee, S., Lefièvre, L., de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (2000). Nitric oxide interacts with the cAMP pathway to modulate capacitation of human spermatozoa. *Free Radic Biol Med*, *29*(6), 522-536.
- Benedetti, A., Comporti, M., & Esterbauer, H. (1980). Identification of 4-hydroxynonenal as a cytotoxic product originating from the peroxidation of liver microsomal lipids. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 620(2), 281-296.
- Bernal, A., Torres, J., Reyes, A., & Rosado, A. (1980). Presence and regional distribution of sialyl transferase in the epididymis of the rat. *Biol Reprod*, *23*(2), 290-293.
- Bizzozero, O. A., Reyes, S., Ziegler, J., & Smerjac, S. (2007). Lipid peroxidation scavengers prevent the carbonylation of cytoskeletal brain proteins induced by glutathione depletion. *Neurochem Res*, *32*(12), 2114-2122.
- Björkgren, I., Saastamoinen, L., Krutskikh, A., Huhtaniemi, I., Poutanen, M., & Sipilä, P. (2012). Dicer1 ablation in the mouse epididymis causes dedifferentiation of the epithelium and imbalance in sex steroid signaling. *PLoS One*, 7(6), e38457.
- Blume-Jensen, P., Jiang, G., Hyman, R., Lee, K. F., O'Gorman, S., & Hunter, T. (2000). Kit/stem cell factor receptor-induced activation of phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase is essential for male fertility. *Nat Genet*, 24(2), 157-162.
- Breitbart, H., Cohen, G., & Rubinstein, S. (2005). Role of actin cytoskeleton in mammalian sperm capacitation and the acrosome reaction. *Reproduction*, *129*(3), 263-268.
- Brener, E., Rubinstein, S., Cohen, G., Shternall, K., Rivlin, J., & Breitbart, H. (2003). Remodeling of the Actin Cytoskeleton During Mammalian Sperm Capacitation and Acrosome Reaction1. *Biology of Reproduction*, 68(3), 837-845.
- Brennemann, W., Stoffel-Wagner, B., Helmers, A., Mezger, J., Jäger, N., & Klingmüller, D. (1997). Gonadal function of patients treated with cisplatin based chemotherapy for germ cell cancer. *J Urol*, 158(3 Pt 1), 844-850.
- Brunner, R. J., Demeter, J. H., & Sindhwani, P. (2019). Review of Guidelines for the Evaluation and Treatment of Leukocytospermia in Male Infertility. *World J Mens Health*, *37*(2), 128-137.
- Bushnik, T., Cook, J. L., Yuzpe, A. A., Tough, S., & Collins, J. (2012). Estimating the prevalence of infertility in Canada. *Hum Reprod*, *27*(3), 738-746.
- Campo, M. L., Kinnally, K. W., & Tedeschi, H. (1992). The effect of antimycin A on mouse liver inner mitochondrial membrane channel activity. *J Biol Chem*, *267*(12), 8123-8127.
- Casoni, F., Basso, M., Massignan, T., Gianazza, E., Cheroni, C., Salmona, M., Bendotti, C., & Bonetto, V. (2005). Protein nitration in a mouse model of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: possible multifunctional role in the pathogenesis. *J Biol Chem*, 280(16), 16295-16304.
- Chabory, E., Damon, C., Lenoir, A., Henry-Berger, J., Vernet, P., Cadet, R., Saez, F., & Drevet, J. R. (2010). Mammalian glutathione peroxidases control acquisition and maintenance of spermatozoa integrity. *J Anim Sci*, 88(4), 1321-1331.
- Chae, H. Z., Oubrahim, H., Park, J. W., Rhee, S. G., & Chock, P. B. (2012). Protein glutathionylation in the regulation of peroxiredoxins: a family of thiol-specific peroxidases that function as antioxidants, molecular chaperones, and signal modulators. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 16(6), 506-523.
- Chance, B., Sies, H., & Boveris, A. (1979). Hydroperoxide metabolism in mammalian organs. *Physiological Reviews*, *59*(3), 527-605.
- Chang, T. S., Jeong, W., Woo, H. A., Lee, S. M., Park, S., & Rhee, S. G. (2004). Characterization of mammalian sulfiredoxin and its reactivation of hyperoxidized peroxiredoxin through reduction of cysteine sulfinic acid in the active site to cysteine. J Biol Chem, 279(49), 50994-51001.
- Chávez, J. C., Hernández-González, E. O., Wertheimer, E., Visconti, P. E., Darszon, A., & Treviño, C. L. (2012). Participation of the Cl-/HCO(3)- exchangers SLC26A3 and SLC26A6, the Cl- channel CFTR, and the regulatory factor SLC9A3R1 in mouse sperm capacitation. *Biol Reprod*, 86(1), 1-14.
- Chiarpotto, E., Domenicotti, C., Paola, D., Vitali, A., Nitti, M., Pronzato, M. A., Biasi, F.,
 Cottalasso, D., Marinari, U. M., Dragonetti, A., Cesaro, P., Isidoro, C., & Poli, G. (1999).
 Regulation of rat hepatocyte protein kinase C beta isoenzymes by the lipid peroxidation product 4-hydroxy-2,3-nonenal: A signaling pathway to modulate vesicular transport of glycoproteins. *Hepatology*, 29(5), 1565-1572.
- Chiarugi, P., & Cirri, P. (2003). Redox regulation of protein tyrosine phosphatases during receptor tyrosine kinase signal transduction. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 28(9), 509-514.
- Chu, F. F., Doroshow, J. H., & Esworthy, R. S. (1993). Expression, characterization, and tissue distribution of a new cellular selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase, GSHPx-GI. J Biol Chem, 268(4), 2571-2576.

Clermont, Y. (1963). The cycle of the seminiferous epithelium in man. Am J Anat, 112, 35-51.

- Comhaire, F. H., & World Health Organization. (1987). *Towards More Objectivity in Diagnosis* and Management of Male Infertility: Results of a World Health Organization Multicentre Study. Blackwell Scientific.
- Conrad, M., Moreno, S. G., Sinowatz, F., Ursini, F., Kölle, S., Roveri, A., Brielmeier, M., Wurst, W., Maiorino, M., & Bornkamm, G. W. (2005). The nuclear form of phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase is a protein thiol peroxidase contributing to sperm chromatin stability. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25(17), 7637-7644.
- Cornwall, G. A. (2009). New insights into epididymal biology and function. *Hum Reprod Update*, *15*(2), 213-227.
- Dadoune, J. P. (1988). Ultrastructural abnormalities of human spermatozoa. *Hum Reprod*, 3(3), 311-318.
- Dalle-Donne, I., Giustarini, D., Colombo, R., Milzani, A., & Rossi, R. (2005). Sglutathionylation in human platelets by a thiol-disulfide exchange-independent mechanism. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 38(11), 1501-1510.
- Darr, C. R., Varner, D. D., Teague, S., Cortopassi, G. A., Datta, S., & Meyers, S. A. (2016). Lactate and Pyruvate Are Major Sources of Energy for Stallion Sperm with Dose Effects on Mitochondrial Function, Motility, and ROS Production. *Biol Reprod*, 95(2), 34.
- Davila, M. P., Muñoz, P. M., Bolaños, J. M., Stout, T. A., Gadella, B. M., Tapia, J. A., da Silva, C. B., Ferrusola, C. O., & Peña, F. J. (2016). Mitochondrial ATP is required for the maintenance of membrane integrity in stallion spermatozoa, whereas motility requires both glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation. *Reproduction*, 152(6), 683-694.
- de Lamirande, E. (2007). Semenogelin, the main protein of the human semen coagulum, regulates sperm function. *Semin Thromb Hemost*, *33*(1), 60-68.
- de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (1992a). Reactive oxygen species and human spermatozoa. I. Effects on the motility of intact spermatozoa and on sperm axonemes. *J Androl*, *13*(5), 368-378.
- de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (1992b). Reactive oxygen species and human spermatozoa. II. Depletion of adenosine triphosphate plays an important role in the inhibition of sperm motility. *J Androl*, *13*(5), 379-386.
- de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (1995). Capacitation-associated production of superoxide anion by human spermatozoa. *Free Radic Biol Med*, *18*(3), 487-495.
- de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (2002). The extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway is involved in human sperm function and modulated by the superoxide anion. *Mol Hum Reprod*, 8(2), 124-135.

- de Lamirande, E., & Lamothe, G. (2010). Levels of semenogelin in human spermatozoa decrease during capacitation: involvement of reactive oxygen species and zinc. *Hum Reprod*, 25(7), 1619-1630.
- de Lamirande, E., Leclerc, P., & Gagnon, C. (1997). Capacitation as a regulatory event that primes spermatozoa for the acrosome reaction and fertilization. *Mol Hum Reprod*, *3*(3), 175-194.
- de Lamirande, E., & O'Flaherty, C. (2008). Sperm activation: role of reactive oxygen species and kinases. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1784*(1), 106-115.
- de Lamirande, E., & O'Flaherty, C. (2012). Sperm capacitation as an oxidative event. In J. Aitken, J. Alvarez, & A. Agarawal (Eds.), *Studies on men's health and fertility, oxidative stress in applied basic research and clinical practice*. Springer Science.
- Dias, T. R., Alves, M. G., Silva, B. M., & Oliveira, P. F. (2014). Sperm glucose transport and metabolism in diabetic individuals. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 396(1-2), 37-45.
- Du, G., Mouithys-Mickalad, A., & Sluse, F. E. (1998). Generation of superoxide anion by mitochondria and impairment of their functions during anoxia and reoxygenation in vitro. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 25(9), 1066-1074.
- Dubuisson, M., Vander Stricht, D., Clippe, A., Etienne, F., Nauser, T., Kissner, R., Koppenol, W. H., Rees, J. F., & Knoops, B. (2004). Human peroxiredoxin 5 is a peroxynitrite reductase. *FEBS Lett*, 571(1-3), 161-165.
- Eddy, E. (2006). The Spermatozoon. Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction, 1, 3-54.
- Egler, R. A., Fernandes, E., Rothermund, K., Sereika, S., de Souza-Pinto, N., Jaruga, P., Dizdaroglu, M., & Prochownik, E. V. (2005). Regulation of reactive oxygen species, DNA damage and c-Myc function by peroxiredoxin 1. *Oncogene*, 24(54), 8038-8050.
- Elkina, Y. L., Atroshchenko, M. M., Bragina, E. E., Muronetz, V. I., & Schmalhausen, E. V. (2011). Oxidation of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase decreases sperm motility. *Biochemistry (Moscow)*, 76(2), 268-272.
- Ellerman, D. A., Myles, D. G., & Primakoff, P. (2006). A role for sperm surface protein disulfide isomerase activity in gamete fusion: evidence for the participation of ERp57. *Dev Cell*, *10*(6), 831-837.
- Feng, C. W., Bowles, J., & Koopman, P. (2014). Control of mammalian germ cell entry into meiosis. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 382(1), 488-497.
- Feraille, E., & Doucet, A. (2001). Sodium-potassium-adenosinetriphosphatase-dependent sodium transport in the kidney: hormonal control. *Physiological Reviews*, *81*(1), 345-418.

- Fernandez, M. C., & O'Flaherty, C. (2018). Peroxiredoxin 6 is the primary antioxidant enzyme for the maintenance of viability and DNA integrity in human spermatozoa. *Hum Reprod*, 33(8), 1394-1407.
- Fernie, A. R., Carrari, F., & Sweetlove, L. J. (2004). Respiratory metabolism: glycolysis, the TCA cycle and mitochondrial electron transport. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 7(3), 254-261.
- Ferrer, M., Rodriguez, H., Zara, L., Yu, Y., Xu, W., & Oko, R. (2012). MMP2 and acrosin are major proteinases associated with the inner acrosomal membrane and may cooperate in sperm penetration of the zona pellucida during fertilization. *Cell Tissue Res*, 349(3), 881-895.
- Fisher, A. B. (2017). Peroxiredoxin 6 in the repair of peroxidized cell membranes and cell signaling. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, *617*, 68-83.
- Flesch, F. M., & Gadella, B. M. (2000). Dynamics of the mammalian sperm plasma membrane in the process of fertilization. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1469*(3), 197-235.
- Florman, H., & Ducibella, T. (2006). Mammalian fertilization. *Physiology of Reproduction*, 55-112.
- Foresta, C., Flohé, L., Garolla, A., Roveri, A., Ursini, F., & Maiorino, M. (2002). Male fertility is linked to the selenoprotein phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase. *Biol Reprod*, 67(3), 967-971.
- Fratelli, M., Gianazza, E., & Ghezzi, P. (2004). Redox proteomics: identification and functional role of glutathionylated proteins. *Expert Review of Proteomics*, 1(3), 365-376.
- Frickel, E. M., Frei, P., Bouvier, M., Stafford, W. F., Helenius, A., Glockshuber, R., & Ellgaard, L. (2004). ERp57 is a multifunctional thiol-disulfide oxidoreductase. *J Biol Chem*, 279(18), 18277-18287.
- Fridovich, I. (1997). Superoxide anion radical (O2-.), superoxide dismutases, and related matters. *J Biol Chem*, 272(30), 18515-18517.
- Fukami, K., Yoshida, M., Inoue, T., Kurokawa, M., Fissore, R. A., Yoshida, N., Mikoshiba, K., & Takenawa, T. (2003). Phospholipase Cdelta4 is required for Ca2+ mobilization essential for acrosome reaction in sperm. *J Cell Biol*, 161(1), 79-88.
- Gadella, B. M., & Van Gestel, R. A. (2004). Bicarbonate and its role in mammalian sperm function. *Anim Reprod Sci*, 82-83, 307-319.
- Galli, Piroddi, Iannone, Pagliarani, Tomasi, & Floridi. (2004). A comparison between the antioxidant and peroxynitrite-scavenging functions of the vitamin E metabolites alphaand gamma-carboxyethyl-6-hydroxychromans. *International journal for vitamin and nutrition research*, 74(5), 362-373.

- Gallon, F., Marchetti, C., Jouy, N., & Marchetti, P. (2006). The functionality of mitochondria differentiates human spermatozoa with high and low fertilizing capability. *Fertil Steril*, *86*(5), 1526-1530.
- Ghyselinck, N. B., Jimenez, C., Courty, Y., & Dufaure, J. P. (1989). Androgen-dependent messenger RNA(s) related to secretory proteins in the mouse epididymis. *J Reprod Fertil*, 85(2), 631-639.
- Gil-Guzman, E., Ollero, M., Lopez, M. C., Sharma, R. K., Alvarez, J. G., Thomas, A. J., Jr., & Agarwal, A. (2001). Differential production of reactive oxygen species by subsets of human spermatozoa at different stages of maturation. *Hum Reprod*, 16(9), 1922-1930.
- Goldberg, R. B., Geremia, R., & Bruce, W. R. (1977). Histone synthesis and replacement during spermatogenesis in the mouse. *Differentiation*, 7(3), 167-180.
- Gong, S., San Gabriel, M. C., Zini, A., Chan, P., & O'Flaherty, C. (2012). Low amounts and high thiol oxidation of peroxiredoxins in spermatozoa from infertile men. J Androl, 33(6), 1342-1351.
- Gopalakrishna, R., & Anderson, W. B. (1989). Ca2+- and phospholipid-independent activation of protein kinase C by selective oxidative modification of the regulatory domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 86(17), 6758-6762.
- Gow, A. J., Duran, D., Malcolm, S., & Ischiropoulos, H. (1996). Effects of peroxynitrite-induced protein modifications on tyrosine phosphorylation and degradation. *FEBS Lett*, 385(1-2), 63-66.
- Griveau, J. F., Dumont, E., Renard, P., Callegari, J. P., & Le Lannou, D. (1995). Reactive oxygen species, lipid peroxidation and enzymatic defence systems in human spermatozoa. *J Reprod Fertil*, *103*(1), 17-26.
- Halliwell, B. (2006). Oxidative stress and neurodegeneration: where are we now? *J Neurochem*, *97*(6), 1634-1658.
- Halliwell, B., & Gutteridge, J. (2007). Cellular responses to oxidative stress: adaptation, damage, repair, senescence and death. In B. Halliwell & J. Gutteridge (Eds.), *Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine* (pp. 187–267). Oxford University Press.
- Hammadeh, M. E., Hamad, M. F., Montenarh, M., & Fischer-Hammadeh, C. (2010). Protamine contents and P1/P2 ratio in human spermatozoa from smokers and non-smokers. *Hum Reprod*, 25(11), 2708-2720.
- Han, Y. H., Kim, H. S., Kim, J. M., Kim, S. K., Yu, D. Y., & Moon, E. Y. (2005). Inhibitory role of peroxiredoxin II (Prx II) on cellular senescence. *FEBS Lett*, *579*(21), 4897-4902.
- Harris, I. D., Fronczak, C., Roth, L., & Meacham, R. B. (2011). Fertility and the aging male. *Rev* Urol, 13(4), e184-190.

- Hasegawa, M., Wilson, G., Russell, L. D., & Meistrich, M. L. (1997). Radiation-induced cell death in the mouse testis: relationship to apoptosis. *Radiat Res*, 147(4), 457-467.
- Hashemitabar, M., Sabbagh, S., Orazizadeh, M., Ghadiri, A., & Bahmanzadeh, M. (2015). A proteomic analysis on human sperm tail: comparison between normozoospermia and asthenozoospermia. *J Assist Reprod Genet*, *32*(6), 853-863.
- Hatefi, Y. (1985). The mitochondrial electron transport and oxidative phosphorylation system. *Annu Rev Biochem*, *54*, 1015-1069.
- Hecht, D., & Zick, Y. (1992). Selective inhibition of protein tyrosine phosphatase activities by H2O2 and vanadate in vitro. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 188(2), 773-779.
- Hendin, B. N., Kolettis, P. N., Sharma, R. K., Thomas, A. J., Jr., & Agarwal, A. (1999). Varicocele is associated with elevated spermatozoal reactive oxygen species production and diminished seminal plasma antioxidant capacity. *J Urol*, 161(6), 1831-1834.
- Herbette, S., Roeckel-Drevet, P., & Drevet, J. R. (2007). Seleno-independent glutathione peroxidases. More than simple antioxidant scavengers. *FEBS Journal*, 274(9), 2163-2180.
- Hermo, L., Dworkin, J., & Oko, R. (1988). Role of epithelial clear cells of the rat epididymis in the disposal of the contents of cytoplasmic droplets detached from spermatozoa. *Am J Anat*, 183(2), 107-124.
- Herrero, M. B., de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (1999). Nitric oxide regulates human sperm capacitation and protein-tyrosine phosphorylation in vitro. *Biol Reprod*, *61*(3), 575-581.
- Herrero, M. B., de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (2001). Tyrosine nitration in human spermatozoa: a physiological function of peroxynitrite, the reaction product of nitric oxide and superoxide. *Molecular Human Reproduction*, 7(10), 913-921.
- Herrero, M. B., Goin, J. C., Boquet, M., Canteros, M. G., Franchi, A. M., Perez Martinez, S., Polak, J. M., Viggiano, J. M., & Gimeno, M. A. (1997). The nitric oxide synthase of mouse spermatozoa. *FEBS Lett*, 411(1), 39-42.
- Ho, Y. S., Magnenat, J. L., Bronson, R. T., Cao, J., Gargano, M., Sugawara, M., & Funk, C. D. (1997). Mice deficient in cellular glutathione peroxidase develop normally and show no increased sensitivity to hyperoxia. *J Biol Chem*, 272(26), 16644-16651.

Hofmann, B., Hecht, H. J., & Flohé, L. (2002). Peroxiredoxins. Biol Chem, 383(3-4), 347-364.

- Holstein, A. F., Schulze, W., & Davidoff, M. (2003). Understanding spermatogenesis is a prerequisite for treatment. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol*, 1, 107.
- Humphries, K. M., Juliano, C., & Taylor, S. S. (2002). Regulation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase activity by glutathionylation. *J Biol Chem*, 277(45), 43505-43511.

- Ighodaro, O. M., & Akinloye, O. A. (2018). First line defence antioxidants-superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX): Their fundamental role in the entire antioxidant defence grid. *Alexandria Journal of Medicine*, *54*(4), 287-293.
- Inoue, N., Hagihara, Y., Wright, D., Suzuki, T., & Wada, I. (2015). Oocyte-triggered dimerization of sperm IZUMO1 promotes sperm-egg fusion in mice. *Nat Commun*, 6, 8858.
- Inoue, N., Ikawa, M., Isotani, A., & Okabe, M. (2005). The immunoglobulin superfamily protein Izumo is required for sperm to fuse with eggs. *Nature*, 434(7030), 234-238.
- Iuchi, Y., Okada, F., Tsunoda, S., Kibe, N., Shirasawa, N., Ikawa, M., Okabe, M., Ikeda, Y., & Fujii, J. (2009). Peroxiredoxin 4 knockout results in elevated spermatogenic cell death via oxidative stress. *Biochem J*, 419(1), 149-158.
- Iwasaki, A., & Gagnon, C. (1992). Formation of reactive oxygen species in spermatozoa of infertile patients. *Fertil Steril*, 57(2), 409-416.
- Jang, H. H., Lee, K. O., Chi, Y. H., Jung, B. G., Park, S. K., Park, J. H., Lee, J. R., Lee, S. S., Moon, J. C., Yun, J. W., Choi, Y. O., Kim, W. Y., Kang, J. S., Cheong, G. W., Yun, D. J., Rhee, S. G., Cho, M. J., & Lee, S. Y. (2004). Two enzymes in one; two yeast peroxiredoxins display oxidative stress-dependent switching from a peroxidase to a molecular chaperone function. *Cell*, 117(5), 625-635.
- Jeon, B. G., Moon, J. S., Kim, K. C., Lee, H. J., Choe, S. Y., & Rho, G. J. (2001). Follicular fluid enhances sperm attraction and its motility in human. *J Assist Reprod Genet*, 18(8), 407-412.
- Jiang, Q., Christen, S., Shigenaga, M. K., & Ames, B. N. (2001). γ-Tocopherol, the major form of vitamin E in the US diet, deserves more attention. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 74(6), 714-722.
- Jimenez, T., Sánchez, G., Wertheimer, E., & Blanco, G. (2010). Activity of the Na,K-ATPase alpha4 isoform is important for membrane potential, intracellular Ca2+, and pH to maintain motility in rat spermatozoa. *Reproduction*, *139*(5), 835-845.
- Jones, R., Mann, T., & Sherins, R. (1979). Peroxidative breakdown of phospholipids in human spermatozoa, spermicidal properties of fatty acid peroxides, and protective action of seminal plasma. *Fertil Steril*, *31*(5), 531-537.
- Jonsson, M., Linse, S., Frohm, B., Lundwall, A., & Malm, J. (2005). Semenogelins I and II bind zinc and regulate the activity of prostate-specific antigen. *Biochem J*, 387(Pt 2), 447-453.
- Jönsson, T. J., & Lowther, W. T. (2007). The peroxiredoxin repair proteins. *Subcell Biochem*, 44, 115-141.
- Kaplan, J. H. (2002). Biochemistry of Na,K-ATPase. Annu Rev Biochem, 71, 511-535.

- Kawai, Y., Hama, T., Mayumi, T., Okabe, M., Matzno, S., Kohama, Y., & Mimura, T. (1989).
 Flow cytometric analysis of mouse sperm using monoclonal anti-sperm antibody OBF13.
 Journal of reproductive immunology, 16(1), 71-82.
- Kehrer, J. P. (2000). The Haber-Weiss reaction and mechanisms of toxicity. *Toxicology*, *149*(1), 43-50.
- Kehrer, J. P., Robertson, J. D., & Smith, C. V. (2010). 1.14 Free Radicals and Reactive Oxygen Species. In C. A. McQueen (Ed.), *Comprehensive Toxicology (Second Edition)* (pp. 277-307). Elsevier.
- Kino, K., & Sugiyama, H. (2000). GC-->CG transversion mutation might be caused by 8oxoguanine oxidation product. *Nucleic Acids Symp Ser*(44), 139-140.
- Koppers, A. J., De Iuliis, G. N., Finnie, J. M., McLaughlin, E. A., & Aitken, R. J. (2008). Significance of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species in the generation of oxidative stress in spermatozoa. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 93(8), 3199-3207.
- Landino, L. M., Iwig, J. S., Kennett, K. L., & Moynihan, K. L. (2004). Repair of peroxynitrite damage to tubulin by the thioredoxin reductase system. *Free Radic Biol Med*, *36*(4), 497-506.
- Leclerc, P., de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (1996). Cyclic adenosine 3',5'monophosphatedependent regulation of protein tyrosine phosphorylation in relation to human sperm capacitation and motility. *Biol Reprod*, 55(3), 684-692.
- Lee, D., Moawad, A. R., Morielli, T., Fernandez, M. C., & O'Flaherty, C. (2017). Peroxiredoxins prevent oxidative stress during human sperm capacitation. *Mol Hum Reprod*, 23(2), 106-115.
- Lee, T. H., Kim, S. U., Yu, S. L., Kim, S. H., Park, D. S., Moon, H. B., Dho, S. H., Kwon, K. S., Kwon, H. J., Han, Y. H., Jeong, S., Kang, S. W., Shin, H. S., Lee, K. K., Rhee, S. G., & Yu, D. Y. (2003). Peroxiredoxin II is essential for sustaining life span of erythrocytes in mice. *Blood*, 101(12), 5033-5038.
- Li, H., Benipal, B., Zhou, S., Dodia, C., Chatterjee, S., Tao, J. Q., Sorokina, E. M., Raabe, T., Feinstein, S. I., & Fisher, A. B. (2015). Critical role of peroxiredoxin 6 in the repair of peroxidized cell membranes following oxidative stress. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 87, 356-365.
- Li, L., & Liu, Y. (2011). Diverse small non-coding RNAs in RNA interference pathways. *Methods Mol Biol*, 764, 169-182.
- Li, L., Shoji, W., Takano, H., Nishimura, N., Aoki, Y., Takahashi, R., Goto, S., Kaifu, T., Takai, T., & Obinata, M. (2007). Increased susceptibility of MER5 (peroxiredoxin III) knockout mice to LPS-induced oxidative stress. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 355(3), 715-721.

- Li, T. K. (1975). The glutathione and thiol content of mammalian spermatozoa and seminal plasma. *Biol Reprod*, *12*(5), 641-646.
- Liu, B., Wang, P., Wang, Z., & Zhang, W. (2011). The use of anti-VDAC2 antibody for the combined assessment of human sperm acrosome integrity and ionophore A23187induced acrosome reaction. *PLoS One*, 6(2), e16985.
- Liu, G., Feinstein, S. I., Wang, Y., Dodia, C., Fisher, D., Yu, K., Ho, Y. S., & Fisher, A. B. (2010). Comparison of glutathione peroxidase 1 and peroxiredoxin 6 in protection against oxidative stress in the mouse lung. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 49(7), 1172-1181.
- Liu, Y., & O'Flaherty, C. (2017). In vivo oxidative stress alters thiol redox status of peroxiredoxin 1 and 6 and impairs rat sperm quality. *Asian J Androl*, *19*(1), 73-79.
- Lubos, E., Loscalzo, J., & Handy, D. E. (2011). Glutathione peroxidase-1 in health and disease: from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic opportunities. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, *15*(7), 1957-1997.
- Luers, G. H., Thiele, S., Schad, A., Volkl, A., Yokota, S., & Seitz, J. (2006). Peroxisomes are present in murine spermatogonia and disappear during the course of spermatogenesis [10.1007/s00418-005-0114-9 doi]. *Histochem Cell Biol*, 125(6), 693-703.
- Maguire, J. J., Kagan, V. E., & Packer, L. (1992). Electron transport between cytochrome c and alpha tocopherol. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 188(1), 190-197.
- Manandhar, G., Miranda-Vizuete, A., Pedrajas, J. R., Krause, W. J., Zimmerman, S., Sutovsky, M., & Sutovsky, P. (2009). Peroxiredoxin 2 and Peroxidase Enzymatic Activity of Mammalian Spermatozoa1. *Biology of Reproduction*, 80(6), 1168-1177.
- Manevich, Y., Reddy, K. S., Shuvaeva, T., Feinstein, S. I., & Fisher, A. B. (2007). Structure and phospholipase function of peroxiredoxin 6: identification of the catalytic triad and its role in phospholipid substrate binding1. *Journal of Lipid Research*, *48*(10), 2306-2318.
- Manevich, Y., Shuvaeva, T., Dodia, C., Kazi, A., Feinstein, S. I., & Fisher, A. B. (2009). Binding of peroxiredoxin 6 to substrate determines differential phospholipid hydroperoxide peroxidase and phospholipase A(2) activities. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 485(2), 139-149.
- Martínez-Soto, J. C., Landeras, J., & Gadea, J. (2013). Spermatozoa and seminal plasma fatty acids as predictors of cryopreservation success. *Andrology*, 1(3), 365-375.
- Matsumoto, A. M., & Bremner, W. J. (2016). Testicular Disorders. In S. Melmed, P. R. Larsen, K. S. Polonsky, & H. M. Kronenberg (Eds.), *Williams Textbook of Endocrinology* (13 ed., pp. 694-784). Elsevier.
- Miki, K., Willis, W. D., Brown, P. R., Goulding, E. H., Fulcher, K. D., & Eddy, E. M. (2002). Targeted disruption of the Akap4 gene causes defects in sperm flagellum and motility. *Dev Biol*, 248(2), 331-342.

- Miriyala, S., Holley, A. K., & St Clair, D. K. (2011). Mitochondrial superoxide dismutase-signals of distinction. *Anticancer Agents Med Chem*, 11(2), 181-190.
- Mo, Y., Feinstein, S. I., Manevich, Y., Zhang, Q., Lu, L., Ho, Y. S., & Fisher, A. B. (2003). 1-Cys peroxiredoxin knock-out mice express mRNA but not protein for a highly related intronless gene. *FEBS Lett*, 555(2), 192-198.
- Moawad, A. R., Fernandez, M. C., Scarlata, E., Dodia, C., Feinstein, S. I., Fisher, A. B., & O'Flaherty, C. (2017). Deficiency of peroxiredoxin 6 or inhibition of its phospholipase A2 activity impair the in vitro sperm fertilizing competence in mice. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 12994.
- Morielli, T., & O'Flaherty, C. (2015). Oxidative stress impairs function and increases redox protein modifications in human spermatozoa. *Reproduction*, *149*(1), 113-123.
- Nenicu, A., Lüers, G. H., Kovacs, W., David, M., Zimmer, A., Bergmann, M., & Baumgart-Vogt, E. (2007). Peroxisomes in human and mouse testis: differential expression of peroxisomal proteins in germ cells and distinct somatic cell types of the testis. *Biol Reprod*, 77(6), 1060-1072.
- Neumann, C. A., Krause, D. S., Carman, C. V., Das, S., Dubey, D. P., Abraham, J. L., Bronson, R. T., Fujiwara, Y., Orkin, S. H., & Van Etten, R. A. (2003). Essential role for the peroxiredoxin Prdx1 in erythrocyte antioxidant defence and tumour suppression. *Nature*, 424(6948), 561-565.
- Nixon, B., Bernstein, I. R., Cafe, S. L., Delehedde, M., Sergeant, N., Anderson, A. L., Trigg, N. A., Eamens, A. L., Lord, T., Dun, M. D., De Iuliis, G. N., & Bromfield, E. G. (2019). A Kinase Anchor Protein 4 Is Vulnerable to Oxidative Adduction in Male Germ Cells [Original Research]. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 7(319).
- O'Flaherty, C. (2014a). Peroxiredoxins: hidden players in the antioxidant defence of human spermatozoa. *Basic Clin Androl*, 24, 4.
- O'Flaherty, C. (2019). Orchestrating the antioxidant defenses in the epididymis. *Andrology*, 7(5), 662-668.
- O'Flaherty, C., Beorlegui, N., & Beconi, M. T. (2003). Participation of superoxide anion in the capacitation of cryopreserved bovine sperm. *Int J Androl*, *26*(2), 109-114.
- O'Flaherty, C., Beorlegui, N., & Beconi, M. T. (2006). Heparin- and superoxide anion-dependent capacitation of cryopreserved bovine spermatozoa: requirement of dehydrogenases and protein kinases. *Free Radic Res*, 40(4), 427-432.
- O'Flaherty, C., de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (2004). Phosphorylation of the Arginine-X-X-(Serine/Threonine) motif in human sperm proteins during capacitation: modulation and protein kinase A dependency. *Mol Hum Reprod*, *10*(5), 355-363.

- O'Flaherty, C., de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (2005). Reactive oxygen species and protein kinases modulate the level of phospho-MEK-like proteins during human sperm capacitation. *Biol Reprod*, 73(1), 94-105.
- O'Flaherty, C., de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (2006a). Positive role of reactive oxygen species in mammalian sperm capacitation: triggering and modulation of phosphorylation events. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 41(4), 528-540.
- O'Flaherty, C., de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (2006b). Reactive oxygen species modulate independent protein phosphorylation pathways during human sperm capacitation. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 40(6), 1045-1055.
- O'Flaherty, C., & Rico de Souza, A. (2010). Hydrogen Peroxide Modifies Human Sperm Peroxiredoxins in a Dose-Dependent Manner1. *Biology of Reproduction*, 84(2), 238-247.
- O'Flaherty, C. M., Beorlegui, N. B., & Beconi, M. T. (2002). Lactate dehydrogenase-C4 is involved in heparin- and NADH-dependent bovine sperm capacitation. *Andrologia*, *34*(2), 91-97.
- O'Flaherty, C. (2014b). The Enzymatic Antioxidant System of Human Spermatozoa. *Advances in Andrology*, 2014, 626374.
- O'Flaherty, C., & Matsushita-Fournier, D. (2017). Reactive oxygen species and protein modifications in spermatozoa[†]. *Biology of Reproduction*, 97(4), 577-585.
- Ohtani, H., Wakui, H., Ishino, T., Komatsuda, A., & Miura, A. B. (1993). An isoform of protein disulfide isomerase is expressed in the developing acrosome of spermatids during rat spermiogenesis and is transported into the nucleus of mature spermatids and epididymal spermatozoa. *Histochemistry*, 100(6), 423-429.
- Ollero, M., Gil-Guzman, E., Lopez, M. C., Sharma, R. K., Agarwal, A., Larson, K., Evenson, D., Thomas, A. J., Jr., & Alvarez, J. G. (2001). Characterization of subsets of human spermatozoa at different stages of maturation: implications in the diagnosis and treatment of male infertility. *Hum Reprod*, 16(9), 1912-1921.
- Orta, G., de la Vega-Beltran, J. L., Martín-Hidalgo, D., Santi, C. M., Visconti, P. E., & Darszon, A. (2018). CatSper channels are regulated by protein kinase A. *J Biol Chem*, 293(43), 16830-16841.
- Ozkosem, B., Feinstein, S. I., Fisher, A. B., & O'Flaherty, C. (2015). Advancing age increases sperm chromatin damage and impairs fertility in peroxiredoxin 6 null mice. *Redox Biol*, *5*, 15-23.
- Ozkosem, B., Feinstein, S. I., Fisher, A. B., & O'Flaherty, C. (2016). Absence of Peroxiredoxin 6 Amplifies the Effect of Oxidant Stress on Mobility and SCSA/CMA3 Defined Chromatin Quality and Impairs Fertilizing Ability of Mouse Spermatozoa. *Biol Reprod*, *94*(3), 68.

- Packer, M. A., Porteous, C. M., & Murphy, M. P. (1996). Superoxide production by mitochondria in the presence of nitric oxide forms peroxynitrite. *Biochem Mol Biol Int*, 40(3), 527-534.
- Pasqualotto, F. F., Umezu, F. M., Salvador, M., Borges, E., Jr., Sobreiro, B. P., & Pasqualotto, E. B. (2008). Effect of cigarette smoking on antioxidant levels and presence of leukocytospermia in infertile men: a prospective study. *Fertil Steril*, 90(2), 278-283.
- Peeker, R., Abramsson, L., & Marklund, S. L. (1997). Superoxide dismutase isoenzymes in human seminal plasma and spermatozoa. *Mol Hum Reprod*, *3*(12), 1061-1066.
- Persad, S., Takeda, S., Panagia, V., & Dhalla, N. S. (1997). Beta-adrenoceptor-linked signal transduction in ischemic-reperfused heart and scavenging of oxyradicals. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 29(2), 545-558.
- Peshenko, I. V., & Shichi, H. (2001). Oxidation of active center cysteine of bovine 1-Cys peroxiredoxin to the cysteine sulfenic acid form by peroxide and peroxynitrite. *Free Radic Biol Med*, *31*(3), 292-303.
- Pham, N. A., Robinson, B. H., & Hedley, D. W. (2000). Simultaneous detection of mitochondrial respiratory chain activity and reactive oxygen in digitonin-permeabilized cells using flow cytometry. *Cytometry*, *41*(4), 245-251.
- Piomboni, P., Focarelli, R., Stendardi, A., Ferramosca, A., & Zara, V. (2012). The role of mitochondria in energy production for human sperm motility. *International Journal of Andrology*, 35(2), 109-124.
- Prasad, N., Ramteke, P., Dholia, N., & Yadav, U. C. S. (2018). Chapter 27 Therapeutic Interventions to Block Oxidative Stress-Associated Pathologies. In S. Chatterjee, W. Jungraithmayr, & D. Bagchi (Eds.), *Immunity and Inflammation in Health and Disease* (pp. 341-362). Academic Press.
- Pronzato, M. A., Domenicotti, C., Biasi, F., Chiarpotto, E., Cottalasso, D., Viotti, P., Melloni, E., Marinari, U. M., & Poli, G. (1990). Inactivation of hepatocyte protein kinase C by carbon tetrachloride: involvement of drug's metabolic activation and prooxidant effect. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 171(3), 1353-1360.
- Rajesh Kumar, T., Doreswamy, K., Shrilatha, B., & Muralidhara. (2002). Oxidative stress associated DNA damage in testis of mice: induction of abnormal sperms and effects on fertility. *Mutat Res*, *513*(1-2), 103-111.
- Ralat, L. A., Manevich, Y., Fisher, A. B., & Colman, R. F. (2006). Direct evidence for the formation of a complex between 1-cysteine peroxiredoxin and glutathione S-transferase pi with activity changes in both enzymes. *Biochemistry*, 45(2), 360-372.
- Ralat, L. A., Misquitta, S. A., Manevich, Y., Fisher, A. B., & Colman, R. F. (2008). Characterization of the complex of glutathione S-transferase pi and 1-cysteine peroxiredoxin. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 474(1), 109-118.

- Rhee, S. G., Chae, H. Z., & Kim, K. (2005). Peroxiredoxins: a historical overview and speculative preview of novel mechanisms and emerging concepts in cell signaling. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 38(12), 1543-1552.
- Rhee, S. G., Kang, S. W., Chang, T. S., Jeong, W., & Kim, K. (2001). Peroxiredoxin, a novel family of peroxidases. *IUBMB Life*, *52*(1-2), 35-41.
- Robaire, B., Hinton, B. T., & Orgebin-Crist, M. (2006). The Epididymis. In J. D. Neill (Ed.), *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction* (3rd ed., pp. 1071–1148). Academic Press.
- Robert, M., & Gagnon, C. (1999). Semenogelin I: a coagulum forming, multifunctional seminal vesicle protein. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 55(6-7), 944-960.
- Roosen-Runge, E. C., Bard, J. B. L., Barlow, P. W., & Kirk, D. L. (1977). *The Process of Spermatogenesis in Animals*. Cambridge University Press.
- Roqueta-Rivera, M., Stroud, C. K., Haschek, W. M., Akare, S. J., Segre, M., Brush, R. S., Agbaga, M. P., Anderson, R. E., Hess, R. A., & Nakamura, M. T. (2010).
 Docosahexaenoic acid supplementation fully restores fertility and spermatogenesis in male delta-6 desaturase-null mice. *J Lipid Res*, *51*(2), 360-367.
- Rowley, M. J., & Heller, C. G. (1971). Quantitation of the cells of the seminiferous epithelium of the human testis employing the sertoli cell as a constant. Z Zellforsch Mikrosk Anat, 115(4), 461-472.
- Russell, L. D., & Griswold, M. D. (1993). The sertoli cell. Cache River Press.
- Saez, F., Frenette, G., & Sullivan, R. (2003). Epididymosomes and prostasomes: their roles in posttesticular maturation of the sperm cells. *J Androl*, *24*(2), 149-154.
- Safarinejad, M. R., Hosseini, S. Y., Dadkhah, F., & Asgari, M. A. (2010). Relationship of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids with semen characteristics, and anti-oxidant status of seminal plasma: a comparison between fertile and infertile men. *Clin Nutr*, 29(1), 100-105.
- Said, T., Gokul, S., & Agarwal, A. (2012). Clinical Consequences of Oxidative Stress in Male Infertility. In A. Agarwal, R. J. Aitken, & J. G. Alvarez (Eds.), *Studies on Men's Health* and Fertility (pp. 535-549).
- Salmeen, A., & Barford, D. (2005). Functions and mechanisms of redox regulation of cysteinebased phosphatases. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 7(5-6), 560-577.
- Sampey, B. P., Carbone, D. L., Doorn, J. A., Drechsel, D. A., & Petersen, D. R. (2007). 4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal adduction of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (Erk) and the inhibition of hepatocyte Erk-Est-like protein-1-activating protein-1 signal transduction. *Mol Pharmacol*, 71(3), 871-883.

- Sandlow, J. I., Feng, H. L., Cohen, M. B., & Sandra, A. (1996). Expression of c-KIT and its ligand, stem cell factor, in normal and subfertile human testicular tissue. *J Androl*, 17(4), 403-408.
- Sasagawa, I., Matsuki, S., Suzuki, Y., Iuchi, Y., Tohya, K., Kimura, M., Nakada, T., & Fujii, J. (2001). Possible involvement of the membrane-bound form of peroxiredoxin 4 in acrosome formation during spermiogenesis of rats. *Eur J Biochem*, 268(10), 3053-3061.
- Saxena, R. (2014). Chapter 5 Arthritis as a Disease of Aging and Changes in Antioxidant Status. In V. R. Preedy (Ed.), *Aging* (pp. 49-59). Academic Press.
- Scarlata, E., Fernandez, M. C., & O'Flaherty, C. (2020). A Novel Combination of γ-Tocopherol-Rich Mixture of Tocopherols and Ascorbic Acid Restores Fertility in Cases of Tyrosine Nitration-Associated Male Infertility in Mice. *Antioxidants (Basel)*, *9*(7).
- Scarlata, E., & O'Flaherty, C. (2020). Antioxidant Enzymes and Male Fertility: Lessons from Knockout Models. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, *32*(8), 569-580.
- Schrader, M., & Fahimi, H. D. (2004). Mammalian peroxisomes and reactive oxygen species. *Histochem Cell Biol*, 122(4), 383-393.
- Schröter, S., Osterhoff, C., McArdle, W., & Ivell, R. (1999). The glycocalyx of the sperm surface. *Hum Reprod Update*, *5*(4), 302-313.
- Scialli, A. R. (1997). The leydig cell: Payne AH, Hardy MP, Russell LD, eds. Vienna IL, Cache River Press; 1996. 802 pages.
- Seligman, J., & Shalgi, R. (1991). Protein thiols in spermatozoa and epididymal fluid of rats. J *Reprod Fertil*, 93(2), 399-408.
- Shalgi, R., Seligman, J., & Kosower, N. S. (1989). Dynamics of the Thiol Status of Rat Spermatozoa during Maturation: Analysis with the Fluorescent Labeling Agent Monobromobimane1. *Biology of Reproduction*, 40(5), 1037-1045.
- Shy, K. K., Stenchever, M. A., & Muller, C. H. (1988). Sperm penetration assay and subsequent pregnancy: a prospective study of 74 infertile men. *Obstet Gynecol*, *71*(5), 685-690.
- Sies, H., Sharov, V. S., Klotz, L. O., & Briviba, K. (1997). Glutathione peroxidase protects against peroxynitrite-mediated oxidations. A new function for selenoproteins as peroxynitrite reductase. *J Biol Chem*, 272(44), 27812-27817.
- Smith, R., Kaune, H., Parodi, D., Madariaga, M., Rios, R., Morales, I., & Castro, A. (2006). Increased sperm DNA damage in patients with varicocele: relationship with seminal oxidative stress. *Hum Reprod*, 21(4), 986-993.
- Smith, T. B., Dun, M. D., Smith, N. D., Curry, B. J., Connaughton, H. S., & Aitken, R. J. (2013). The presence of a truncated base excision repair pathway in human spermatozoa that is mediated by OGG1. *J Cell Sci*, *126*(Pt 6), 1488-1497.

- Sommer, D., Coleman, S., Swanson, S. A., & Stemmer, P. M. (2002). Differential susceptibilities of serine/threonine phosphatases to oxidative and nitrosative stress. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 404(2), 271-278.
- Sommer, R. J., Ippolito, D. L., & Peterson, R. E. (1996). In utero and lactational exposure of the male Holtzman rat to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin: decreased epididymal and ejaculated sperm numbers without alterations in sperm transit rate. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 140(1), 146-153.
- Sullivan, R. (2008). Principal Cells' Apocrine Secretion of Epididymosomes and Its Function in Sperm Maturation. *Biology of Reproduction*, 78(Suppl_1), 90-90.
- Sullivan, R. (2015). Epididymosomes: a heterogeneous population of microvesicles with multiple functions in sperm maturation and storage. *Asian J Androl*, *17*(5), 726-729.
- Sullivan, R., & Belleannée, C. (2018). Cell Biology of the Epididymis. In M. K. Skinner (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Reproduction (Second Edition)* (pp. 286-291). Academic Press.
- Sullivan, R., Frenette, G., & Girouard, J. (2007). Epididymosomes are involved in the acquisition of new sperm proteins during epididymal transit. *Asian J Androl*, *9*(4), 483-491.
- Sun, Q.-A., Kirnarsky, L., Sherman, S., & Gladyshev, V. N. (2001). Selenoprotein oxidoreductase with specificity for thioredoxin and glutathione systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98(7), 3673-3678.
- Syntin, P., & Robaire, B. (2001). Sperm structural and motility changes during aging in the Brown Norway rat. *J Androl*, 22(2), 235-244.
- Takahashi, K., Avissar, N., Whitin, J., & Cohen, H. (1987). Purification and characterization of human plasma glutathione peroxidase: a selenoglycoprotein distinct from the known cellular enzyme. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 256(2), 677-686.
- Tan, C. M., Xenoyannis, S., & Feldman, R. D. (1995). Oxidant stress enhances adenylyl cyclase activation. *Circ Res*, 77(4), 710-717.
- Thimon, V., Frenette, G., Saez, F., Thabet, M., & Sullivan, R. (2008). Protein composition of human epididymosomes collected during surgical vasectomy reversal: a proteomic and genomic approach. *Human Reproduction*, 23(8), 1698-1707.
- Thundathil, J., de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (2003). Nitric oxide regulates the phosphorylation of the threonine-glutamine-tyrosine motif in proteins of human spermatozoa during capacitation. *Biol Reprod*, *68*(4), 1291-1298.
- Tollner, T. L., Bevins, C. L., & Cherr, G. N. (2012). Multifunctional glycoprotein DEFB126--a curious story of defensin-clad spermatozoa. *Nat Rev Urol*, 9(7), 365-375.

- Tollner, T. L., Venners, S. A., Hollox, E. J., Yudin, A. I., Liu, X., Tang, G., Xing, H., Kays, R. J., Lau, T., Overstreet, J. W., Xu, X., Bevins, C. L., & Cherr, G. N. (2011). A common mutation in the defensin DEFB126 causes impaired sperm function and subfertility. *Sci Transl Med*, 3(92), 92ra65.
- Tremellen, K. (2008). Oxidative stress and male infertility: a clinical perspective. *Hum Reprod Update*, *14*(3), 243-258.
- Triphan, X., Menzel, V. A., Petrunkina, A. M., Cassará, M. C., Wemheuer, W., Hinsch, K.-D., & Hinsch, E. (2008). Localisation and function of voltage-dependent anion channels (VDAC) in bovine spermatozoa [journal article]. *Pflügers Archiv - European Journal of Physiology*, 455(4), 677-686.
- Trummer, H., Habermann, H., Haas, J., & Pummer, K. (2002). The impact of cigarette smoking on human semen parameters and hormones. *Human Reproduction*, *17*(6), 1554-1559.
- Tulsiani, D. R. (2006). Glycan-modifying enzymes in luminal fluid of the mammalian epididymis: an overview of their potential role in sperm maturation. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 250(1-2), 58-65.
- Turner, R. M., Johnson, L. R., Haig-Ladewig, L., Gerton, G. L., & Moss, S. B. (1998). An Xlinked gene encodes a major human sperm fibrous sheath protein, hAKAP82. Genomic organization, protein kinase A-RII binding, and distribution of the precursor in the sperm tail. J Biol Chem, 273(48), 32135-32141.
- Turner, T. T. (2001). The study of varicocele through the use of animal models. *Hum Reprod Update*, *7*(1), 78-84.
- Ursini, F., Heim, S., Kiess, M., Maiorino, M., Roveri, A., Wissing, J., & Flohé, L. (1999). Dual function of the selenoprotein PHGPx during sperm maturation. *Science*, 285(5432), 1393-1396.
- Ursini, F., Maiorino, M., & Gregolin, C. (1985). The selenoenzyme phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 839(1), 62-70.
- Valli, H., Phillips, B. T., Orwig, K. E., Gassei, K., & Nagano, M. C. (2015). Chapter 15 -Spermatogonial Stem Cells and Spermatogenesis. In T. M. Plant & A. J. Zeleznik (Eds.), *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction (Fourth Edition)* (pp. 595-635). Academic Press.
- van Gestel, R. A., Brewis, I. A., Ashton, P. R., Brouwers, J. F., & Gadella, B. M. (2007). Multiple proteins present in purified porcine sperm apical plasma membranes interact with the zona pellucida of the oocyte. *Molecular Human Reproduction*, 13(7), 445-454.
- Visconti, P. E., Moore, G. D., Bailey, J. L., Leclerc, P., Connors, S. A., Pan, D., Olds-Clarke, P., & Kopf, G. S. (1995). Capacitation of mouse spermatozoa. II. Protein tyrosine phosphorylation and capacitation are regulated by a cAMP-dependent pathway. *Development*, 121(4), 1139-1150.

- Visconti, P. E., Stewart-Savage, J., Blasco, A., Battaglia, L., Miranda, P., Kopf, G. S., & Tezon, J. G. (1999). Roles of bicarbonate, cAMP, and protein tyrosine phosphorylation on capacitation and the spontaneous acrosome reaction of hamster sperm. *Biol Reprod*, *61*(1), 76-84.
- Wang, H. H., Hsieh, H. L., & Yang, C. M. (2011). Nitric oxide production by endothelin-1 enhances astrocytic migration via the tyrosine nitration of matrix metalloproteinase-9. J Cell Physiol, 226(9), 2244-2256.
- Ward, N. E., Stewart, J. R., Ioannides, C. G., & O'Brian, C. A. (2000). Oxidant-induced Sglutathiolation inactivates protein kinase C-alpha (PKC-alpha): a potential mechanism of PKC isozyme regulation. *Biochemistry*, 39(33), 10319-10329.
- Wein A, Kavoussi L, & M, C. (2012). Campbell-Walsh urology (10th ed.). Elsevier Saunders.
- Weir, C. P., & Robaire, B. (2007). Spermatozoa have decreased antioxidant enzymatic capacity and increased reactive oxygen species production during aging in the Brown Norway rat. *J Androl*, *28*(2), 229-240.
- Westhoff, D., & Kamp, G. (1997). Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase is bound to the fibrous sheath of mammalian spermatozoa. *J Cell Sci*, 110 (Pt 15), 1821-1829.
- Williams, K., Frayne, J., & Hall, L. (1998). Expression of extracellular glutathione peroxidase type 5 (GPX5) in the rat male reproductive tract. *Molecular Human Reproduction*, 4(9), 841-848.
- Wood, Z. A., Poole, L. B., & Karplus, P. A. (2003). Peroxiredoxin evolution and the regulation of hydrogen peroxide signaling. *Science*, *300*(5619), 650-653.
- Wood, Z. A., Schröder, E., Robin Harris, J., & Poole, L. B. (2003). Structure, mechanism and regulation of peroxiredoxins. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 28(1), 32-40.
- World Health, O. (2010). WHO laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen. In (5th ed ed.). Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Wu, P. Y., Scarlata, E., & O'Flaherty, C. (2020). Long-Term Adverse Effects of Oxidative Stress on Rat Epididymis and Spermatozoa. *Antioxidants (Basel)*, 9(2).
- Xia, D., Yu, C. A., Kim, H., Xia, J. Z., Kachurin, A. M., Zhang, L., Yu, L., & Deisenhofer, J. (1997). Crystal structure of the cytochrome bc1 complex from bovine heart mitochondria. *Science*, 277(5322), 60-66.
- Yamauchi, Y., Riel, J. M., & Ward, M. A. (2012). Paternal DNA damage resulting from various sperm treatments persists after fertilization and is similar before and after DNA replication. J Androl, 33(2), 229-238.
- Yanagimachi, R. (1994). Mammalian fertilization. In E. Knobil & J. D. Neill (Eds.), *The Physiology of Reproduction* (pp. 189-317). Raven Press.

- Yeste, M., Fernández-Novell, J. M., Ramió-Lluch, L., Estrada, E., Rocha, L. G., Cebrián-Pérez, J. A., Muiño-Blanco, T., Concha, II, Ramírez, A., & Rodríguez-Gil, J. E. (2015). Intracellular calcium movements of boar spermatozoa during 'in vitro' capacitation and subsequent acrosome exocytosis follow a multiple-storage place, extracellular calciumdependent model. *Andrology*, 3(4), 729-747.
- Yin, H., Xu, L., & Porter, N. A. (2011). Free radical lipid peroxidation: mechanisms and analysis. *Chem Rev*, 111(10), 5944-5972.
- Young, S. A., Miyata, H., Satouh, Y., Muto, M., Larsen, M. R., Aitken, R. J., Baker, M. A., & Ikawa, M. (2016). CRISPR/Cas9-mediated mutation revealed cytoplasmic tail is dispensable for IZUMO1 function and male fertility. *Reproduction*, 152(6), 665-672.
- Zeng, Y., Clark, E. N., & Florman, H. M. (1995). Sperm membrane potential: hyperpolarization during capacitation regulates zona pellucida-dependent acrosomal secretion. *Dev Biol*, 171(2), 554-563.
- Zhang, P., Liu, B., Kang, S. W., Seo, M. S., Rhee, S. G., & Obeid, L. M. (1997). Thioredoxin peroxidase is a novel inhibitor of apoptosis with a mechanism distinct from that of Bcl-2. *J Biol Chem*, 272(49), 30615-30618.
- Zhang, Z. H., Zhu, H. B., Li, L. L., Yu, Y., Zhang, H. G., & Liu, R. Z. (2013). Decline of semen quality and increase of leukocytes with cigarette smoking in infertile men. *Iran J Reprod Med*, 11(7), 589-596.
- Zhong, H., & Yin, H. (2015). Role of lipid peroxidation derived 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE) in cancer: focusing on mitochondria. *Redox Biol*, *4*, 193-199.
- Zini, A., de Lamirande, E., & Gagnon, C. (1993). Reactive oxygen species in semen of infertile patients: levels of superoxide dismutase- and catalase-like activities in seminal plasma and spermatozoa. *Int J Androl*, 16(3), 183-188.

Specifications regarding the figures (copyright permission):

Figure 1 from (de Lamirande & O'Flaherty, 2008): Biochim Biophys Acta., 1784(1), Eve de Lamirande & Cristián O'Flaherty, Sperm activation: role of reactive oxygen species and kinases, 106-115, Copyright Elsevier (2008).

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1570963907002245?via%3Dihub

Figure 2 from (O'Flaherty, de Lamirande, et al., 2006a): Free Radic Biol Med., 41(4), Cristián O'Flaherty, Eve de Lamirande & Claude Gagnon, Positive role of reactive oxygen species in mammalian sperm capacitation: triggering and modulation of phosphorylation events, 528-540, Copyright Elsevier (2006).

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0891584906002887?via%3Dihub

Figures 3 and 4 from (Scarlata & O'Flaherty, 2020): Antioxid Redox Signal., 32(8), Eleonora Scarlata & Cristián O'Flaherty, Antioxidant Enzymes and Male Fertility: Lessons from Knockout Models, 569-580, (2020). The publisher for this copyrighted material is Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. publishers.

https://www.liebertpub.com/doi/10.1089/ars.2019.7985?url_ver=Z39.88-2003&rfr_id=ori%3Arid%3Acrossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_pub++0pubmed

Figure 5 from (Manevich et al., 2007): Journal of Lipid Research, 48(10), Yefim Manevich, Konda S. Reddy, Tea Shuvaeva, Sheldon I. Feinstein & Aron B. Fisher, Structure and phospholipase function of peroxiredoxin 6: identification of the catalytic triad and its role in phospholipid substrate binding, 2306-2318, (2007). This figure has a Creative Commons License. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022227520424745?via%3Dihub</u>

Figure 6 from (Fernandez & O'Flaherty, 2018): Peroxiredoxin 6 is the primary antioxidant enzyme for the maintenance of viability and DNA integrity in human spermatozoa by Maria Fernandez & Cristián O'Flaherty, 2018, reproduced by permission of Oxford University Press. <u>https://academic.oup.com/humrep/article/33/8/1394/5038444</u>

10. Appendix



May 11, 2021

Animal Certificate

This is to certify that **Dr. Cristian O'Flaherty, RI-MUHC Glen site,** currently holds an approved **Animal Use Protocol # 2009-5656** with McGill University and its Affiliated Hospital's Research Institutes for the following project:

Animal Use Protocol Title: Regulation of redox signaling in male reproduction

Start date: April 1, 2021

Expiration date: March 31, 2022

McGill University and Affiliated Hospitals Research Institutes recognize the importance of animal research in our efforts to further our knowledge of natural processes, diseases and conservation. Research, educational and testing projects are conducted with full commitment to the wellbeing of the animal subjects. In order to limit animal use to meritorious research or educational projects, the institution relies on stringent peer review processes, along with assessment of ethical issues by the Animal Care Committee. McGill University recognizes that the use of animals in research, teaching and testing carries significant responsibilities. The institution will continue to develop and maintain guidelines and regulations, following the high standards established by the Canadian Council on Animal Care. It is committed to conducting the highest-quality research and to providing animals with the best care.

Cintha lavaele

Cynthia Lavoie Animal Ethics and Compliance Administrator Animal Compliance Office Office of Vice-Principal (Research and Innovation) Suite 325, James Administration Building, McGill University 845 Sherbrooke Street West, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3A 0G4 animal.approvals@mcgill.ca

OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Nov 25, 2021

This Agreement between Mr. Edrian Gabri your license details and the terms and cond	elle Bumanlag ("You") and Oxford University Press ("Oxford University Press") litions provided by Oxford University Press and Copyright Clearance Center.
License Number	5193120541030
License date	Nov 20, 2021
Licensed content publisher	Oxford University Press
Licensed content publication	Human Reproduction
Licensed content title	Peroxiredoxin 6 is the primary antioxidant enzyme for the maintenance of viability and DNA integrity in human spermatozoa
Licensed content author	Fernandez, Maria C; O'Flaherty, Cristian
Licensed content date	Jun 15, 2018
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Institution name	
Title of your work	Masters of Science student
Publisher of your work	McGill University
Expected publication date	Dec 2021
Permissions cost	0.00 CAD
Value added tax	0.00 CAD
Total	0.00 CAD
Title	Masters of Science student
Institution name	McGill University
Expected presentation date	Dec 2021
Portions	Figure 8
	Mr. Edrian Gabrielle Bumanlag 10435 Boul. Gouin Ouest Apt. 202
Requestor Location	Roxboro, QC H8Y 1W8 Canada Attn: Mr. Edrian Gabrielle Bumanlag
Publisher Tax ID	GB125506730

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Nov 25, 2021

This Agreement between Mr. Edrian Gabrielle Buma and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier an	anlag ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and Copyright Clearance Center.	
License Number	5193110952119	
License date	Nov 20, 2021	
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier	
Licensed Content Publication	Free Radical Biology and Medicine	
Licensed Content Title	Positive role of reactive oxygen species in mammalian sperm capacitation: triggering and modulation of phosphorylation events	
Licensed Content Author	Cristián O'Flaherty, Eve de Lamirande, Claude Gagnon	
Licensed Content Date	Aug 15, 2006	
Licensed Content Volume	41	
Licensed Content Issue	4	
Licensed Content Pages	13	
Start Page	528	
End Page	540	
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation	
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations	
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1	
Format	electronic	
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No	
Will you be translating?	No	
Title	Masters of Science student	
Institution name	McGill University	
Expected presentation date	Dec 2021	
Portions	Figure 4	
	Mr. Edrian Gabrielle Bumanlag 10435 Boul. Gouin Ouest Apt. 202	
Requestor Location	Roxboro, QC H8Y 1W8 Canada Attn: Mr. Edrian Gabrielle Bumanlag	
Publisher Tax ID	GB 494 6272 12	

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Nov 25, 2021

This Agreement between Mr. Edrian Gabrielle Bumanlag ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details
and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5193110725625		
License date	Nov 20, 2021		
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier		
Licensed Content Publication	Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Proteins and Proteomics		
Licensed Content Title	Sperm activation: Role of reactive oxygen species and kinases		
Licensed Content Author	Eve de Lamirande, Cristián O'Flaherty		
Licensed Content Date	Jan 1, 2008		
Licensed Content Volume	1784		
Licensed Content Issue	1		
Licensed Content Pages	10		
Start Page	106		
End Page	115		
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation		
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations		
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1		
Format	electronic		
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No		
Will you be translating?	No		
Title	Masters of Science student		
Institution name	McGill University		
Expected presentation date	Dec 2021		
Portions	Figure 1		
	Mr. Edrian Gabrielle Bumanlag 10435 Boul. Gouin Ouest Apt. 202		
Requestor Location	Roxboro, QC H8Y 1W8 Canada Attn: Mr. Edrian Gabrielle Bumanlag		
Publisher Tax ID	GB 494 6272 12		

This is a License Agreement between Edrian Gabrielle Bumanlag ("User") and Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC") on behalf of the Rightsholder identified in the order details below. The license consists of the order details, the CCC Terms and Conditions below, and any Rightsholder Terms and Conditions which are included below. All payments must be made in full to CCC in accordance with the CCC Terms and Conditions below.

Order Date Order License ID ISSN	23-Nov-2021 1163727-1 1523-0864	Type of Use Publisher Portion	Republish in a thesis/dissertation MARY ANN/LIEBERT, INC. PUBLISHERS Chart/graph/table/figure
Publication Title Article Title Author/Editor Date Language Country REOUEST DETAILS	Antioxidants & redox signaling Antioxidant Enzymes and Male Fertility: Lessons from Knockout Models. Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. 01/01/1999 English United States of America	Rightsholder Publication Type Start Page End Page Issue Volume	Mary Ann Liebert Inc. Journal 569 580 8 32
Portion Type Number of charts / graphs / tables / figures requested Format (select all that apply) Who will republish the content? Duration of Use Lifetime Unit Quantity Rights Requested NEW WORK DETAILS	Chart/graph/table/figure 2 Electronic Academic institution Life of current and all future editions Up to 99,999 Main product	Distribution Translation Copies for the disabled? Minor editing privileges? Incidental promotional use? Currency	United States and Canada Original language of publication No No CAD
Title Instructor name	MSc. Experimental Surgery student Dr. Cristian O'Flaherty	Institution name Expected presentation date	McGill University 2021-12-15
Order reference number	N/A	The requesting person / organization to appear on the license	Edrian Gabrielle Bumanlag
Title, description or numeric reference of the portion(s) Editor of portion(s) Volume of serial or monograph Page or page range of portion	Figure 2, Figure 3 Scarlata, Eleonora; O'Flaherty, Cristian 32 569-580	Title of the article/chapter the portion is from Author of portion(s) Issue, if republishing an article from a serial	Antioxidant Enzymes and Male Fertility: Lessons from Knockout Models. Scarlata, Eleonora; O'Flaherty, Cristian 8

Publication date of portion

2020-03-10